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Strategic report 
R. Raphael & Sons plc (‘Bank’ or ‘Company’) is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK.  The Bank’s 

registered office is at 19-21 Shaftesbury Avenue, London, W1D 7ED.  Its immediate parent is Lenlyn Holdings 

Limited (together with its subsidiaries, the ‘Lenlyn Group’), which is incorporated in the UK. 

The Directors present the Strategic report of the Bank in accordance with Companies Act 2006, section 414C. 

Overview 

The Bank is a UK Credit Institution authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority (‘PRA’) (reference 161302), 

regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA’) and the PRA, and is engaged in the business of banking and 

related financial services.  This principally includes the provision of lending in the form of loans and hire purchase 

facilities, offering savings products to UK based personal customers, the issuance of prepaid and debit cards in the 

UK and Europe, and ATM machines at high street and major gateway destinations primarily in the UK.  For some of 

the card programmes in Europe, the Bank is also subject to host state regulations. The Bank is a principal member 

of MasterCard, Visa and the LINK network. 

Sale of the Bank / Strategic Developments 
As part of their divestment plans, the Bank’s shareholder, Lenlyn Holdings Limited, has decided to realise its 

financial interest in the Bank through a share sale or via a sale by the Bank of its separate asset parts.   

While the commitment has remained to achieving a sale, the Bank’s Board has recently taken a decision to cease 

writing new motor loans, with the various stakeholders including staff and brokers informed of this decision in May 

2018.  The Bank has subsequently completed an agreement on 6th July to sell the outstanding motor loan 

receivables.  The expected recoverable value of the loan balances has been compared to the carrying value at 28 

February 2018 and this has led to an additional write down at the year-end of £2.6m. 

Strategic decisions taken in prior years include the agreement to sell the ATM division and exit the Payment 

services division with further detail provided below.  

At this point, the Bank continues to actively renew and originate savings products including notice accounts and 
fixed rate bonds, which are primarily applied to fund the Bank’s continuing lending operations. 
 
As a result of the strategic decisions taken, the Bank has developed a number of plans in respect of various 

possible outcomes for the organisation. In each of these scenarios, the Directors are satisfied that the Bank has 

sufficient liquidity and capital to continue its operations in an orderly manner. 

Business Review 

Lending 

i. Discontinued operations 

The Lending division has operated two principal models.  The first is underwriting and servicing loans introduced 

(mostly) by intermediary brokers while the second involves working through third party companies that originate 

and service loans in various niche markets.  In the first model, the Bank has been active in the provision of hire 

purchase facilities for motor vehicles, together with the more niche markets of wheelchair adapted vehicles.  As 

noted above, since the year-end, the Board has taken a decision to cease writing new motor loans and has signed 

an agreement to sell this portfolio. 

ii. Continuing operations 

In the second model, the Bank has been working with four partners (2017: four partners).  The first operates in a 

variety of retail markets including sport season ticket loans, student support loans, medical loans and similar 

niches and this business remains active.  For each of the other three partners, the Bank has now ceased writing 
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new loans.  In each of these cases, the loans are administered by the respective partner and the Bank has 

arrangements in place whereby the partner will repurchase balances more than three or four months in arrears.   

The Lending division achieved a good level of contribution for the year but due to the decision taken to exit the 

motor hire purchase business, the Directors anticipate that this contribution will be reduced over the coming year.  

Despite the later decision to exit the motor finance business, total loans and advances saw a small increase in 

balance during the year. Impaired loans in the motor sector have seen a marked growth in the year, with balances 

on loans more than 3 months in arrears or where the car has been repossessed up from 3.0% of total balances to 

4.6% at the end of February 2018. In addition, there has been a marked increase during the year in vehicles 

returned through voluntary terminations. Voluntary terminations arise when customers repay more than half of 

their credit agreement and under the terms of the Consumer Credit Act, decide to return the vehicle back to the 

lender and cancel their contract.  Both trends are considered to be in line with industry experience, with 

management monitoring arrears and collections activity closely.  As noted above, an additional write down has 

been taken to reflect the expected recoverable value of the motor loan hire purchase portfolio, based on the sale 

agreement. 

Banking 

The division’s main activity is to offer a range of savings and deposit products to the retail market in support of the 

lending activity within the Bank (i.e. deposits are raised to match lending requirements rather than as a broader 

customer acquisition tool).  The Bank continues to be successful in growing the deposit base in accordance with 

planned liquidity targets and increased its peak deposit balance during the year to £159m from £153m in the 

previous fiscal year.  The majority (93% at February 2018, 96% at February 2017) of the Bank’s deposits are fixed 

rate fixed term products with original tenors between 6 months and 5 years, with the remainder made up of 60 

day, 6 month and 12 month notice accounts.  Given the decision to exit the motor loan business, the Board 

expects the level of retail deposits to decline across the next financial year. 

Payment Services – Discontinued Operation 

The Bank works through a number of partners (Programme Managers) in bringing niche payment solutions to the 

European market.  The Programme Manager typically markets the product, determines the customer proposition 

and services the customer base, whilst the Bank: uses its Visa and MasterCard scheme memberships to issue the 

cards; provides regulatory oversight; holds cardholder funds; and settles and reconciles scheme payments.  

Payments processing is outsourced to specialist providers. 

After a strategic review of its options in 2017, the Bank decided to exit from its Payment Services business in an 

orderly way.  Accordingly, partners’ contracts are not being renewed on expiry and the Bank is working 

cooperatively with any partners that wish to migrate to another issuer either at contract expiry or earlier.  This 

process has progressed well over the past year, with 15 partners remaining at 28 February 2018 (22: February 

2017). Cardholder balances have decreased from £194m at 28 February 2017 to £172m at 28 February 2018. 

Prepaid card balances are held either in the form of demand deposits with major banks, in government or 

supranational securities, or in money market funds.  A large proportion of cardholder liabilities are denominated in 

currencies other than sterling, for which the equivalent bank balance or investment is held in the same currency to 

ensure a matched position. 

ATMs – Discontinued Operation 

The ATM division operates in conjunction with a number of third party site owners, including other members of 

the Lenlyn Group.  The division has broadly maintained the size of its estate with 325 machines at 28 February 

2018 (2017: 322).  The division remains profitable and continues to operate ATMs in the UK and Republic of 

Ireland.  As the result of a strategic review in 2016, the Bank determined that it wished to exit the ATM business 

where it has been and remains highly dependent on the contracts with the rest of the Lenlyn Group for 

profitability and therefore considered the ATM network did not form a core part of the Bank’s business model.  

Conversely, ATMs are a key part of the business of the Bank’s sister company, International Currency Exchange 
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Limited (‘ICE’) and accordingly the Bank signed an agreement on 1 April 2016 to sell its ATM business to a 

subsidiary of ICE.  Completion of the sale is dependent on other transactions completing within the Lenlyn Group 

but the Board expects this to complete during the fiscal year to February 2019.  The Bank does not anticipate 

making a material profit or loss on this arrangement. 

Significant events in the prior year 

In 2015, the Bank was informed that Visa Inc. had announced its intention to purchase Visa Europe, a company in 

which the Bank had an equity interest.  The purchase by Visa Inc. was completed in June 2016 and as a result, the 

Bank received upfront cash consideration of €21.3m (£16.6m), with a further deferred payment of €1.9m (£1.3m) 

due in June 2019, as well as US$16.7m (£11.4m) of preferred shares in Visa Inc. which would be converted to 

ordinary shares over a period of up to 12 years.  The actual number of ordinary shares to be received will vary 

depending on many factors in the intervening periods.  The Bank continues to hold these Visa preferred shares and 

further details of the year-end valuation are given in Note 14.   

 

Key Performance Indicators (‘KPIs’) 

A summary of key performance indicators used to manage the business during the past year is set out in the tables 

that follow.  Given the decisions taken since the year-end, it is likely that some of these KPIs will change next year. 

In order to ensure a level of consistency across each year, the figures include all discontinued businesses. The gain 

recognised on the Visa transaction in the prior financial year has been excluded.  All amounts are in £ thousands 

unless otherwise stated. 

2018) 2017)

KPIs: £’000) £’000)

Total income: continuing and discontinued 21,258 47,129 

Adjustment: Exclude gain on disposal of 

available for sale investments
 - (24,720)

Adjusted total income 21,258 22,409 

Operating expenses (21,350) (17,927)

Adjusted operating profit before impairment charges (92) 4,482 

Credit impairment charges (2,747) (1,763)

Write-down on transfer to held-for-sale (2,641)  - 

Adjusted trading profit before tax (5,480) 2,719  

 

 

Definition: Adjusted total income. 
 
Total income combines the gross earnings 
from each of the Bank’s operating divisions.  
Income has decreased on prior year with a 
reduction resulting from the exit of some 
Payment Services partners and ATM 
transaction income. This has been offset with 
increased interest income from the Lending 
division, with higher loan balances across the 
year.   
 

 

16,394 

19,188 

22,409 
21,258 

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18

Total income (£k)
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Definition: Adjusted operating profit before 
credit impairment charges. 
 
The Board has seen the operating profit of the 
Bank as an important measure in its 
performance.  The current year performance 
was negatively impacted by increased 
operating expenditure, particularly in Central 
function resourcing, together with the impact 
of exiting from the Payment Services business 
and lower ATM transaction income. 

 

 

Definition: Adjusted trading profit before tax. 
 
The Board has seen the trading profit of the 
Bank as an important measure in its 
performance. The current year performance 
was negatively impacted by a combination of 
increased operating costs, higher credit 
impairment charges including the additional 
write down on valuing the loan book at 
recoverable amount, and the lower 
profitability of the Payment Services business 
as the exit from this business commenced. 

  

 

Definition: Total operating expenses divided 
by total income (continuing operations).  
 
The Board aims to ensure that costs are 
contained at an appropriate level.  The current 
cost/income ratio has remained high, in large 
part because of the impact of the decisions 
taken to exit the Payment Services business, 
and increased operating expenditure 
particularly on Central function resourcing. 

 
 

2,267 

3,560 

4,482 

(92)

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18

Operating (loss)/profit before impairment 
charges (£k)

1,910 
2,730 2,719 

(5,480)

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18

Trading (loss)/profit before tax (£k)

86% 85%
80%

100%

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18

Cost / Income ratio (%)
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Definition: Total risk weighted assets divided by 
total regulatory capital 
 
The Board recognises the need to ensure that 
capital levels are sufficient to meet regulatory 
requirements and to allow business growth.  The 
decrease in the current financial year arises from 
the impact of the loss for the year.  The Bank 
remains in a high level of capital surplus above 
regulatory requirements. 

 

 

Definition: Total high quality liquid assets divided 
by net outflows projected over the next 30 days, 
calculated in accordance with the Capital 
Requirement Directive (CRD) 
 
The Board acknowledges the need to hold sufficient 
liquidity to meet its obligations.  The LCR has been 
introduced by Regulators in the CRD, with a 
minimum level applicable to all banks of 100%.  The 
nature of the Bank’s business model, in particular 
the Payment Services division, where cardholder 
liabilities are principally held in short-term 
instruments leads to a high ratio.   
 

 

 

Definition: Total increase in loans and advances to 
customers and hire purchase agreements, excluding 
book purchases 
 
A key part of the Bank’s business has been the value 

of lending.  In the current year, there has been some 

further organic growth of advances in the motor 

finance business, although the rate of increase has 

decreased.  Following the decision taken after the 

year-end to exit this business there will be a 

reduction in loan balances next year. 

 

 

19.9% 19.8%
22.3%

19.3%

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18

Total capital ratio

183%

277% 268%
302%

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18

Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR)

11,662 

19,636 

31,893 

10,562 

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18

Customer loan growth (£k)
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Definition: Total increase in customer accounts.  
 
The Bank’s lending business is dependent on funding 

from retail deposits.  These deposits have grown by 

£16.0m. Cardholder balances have decreased by 

£22.0m., following the decision taken last year to 

exit this business. 

 

 

Definition: Net interest income divided by average 
income earning assets.  
 
The Bank’s lending business generates interest 

earnings, funded by the cost of retail deposits.  

Therefore, it has been important to measure the 

interest margin.  Interest margin has remained static 

on prior year. 

 

Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
The Bank operates in an environment that exposes it to a wide range of risks.  To mitigate these risks, the Board 

has continued to develop and refine its Enterprise Risk Management Framework (‘ERMF’) over the past year to 

identify the types and quantum of risks to which the Bank is prepared to be exposed and how those risks are to be 

mitigated and managed.   

Some of the key elements of the Bank’s ERMF are: 

 The use of risk appetite and tolerance statements throughout the business; 

 The use of risk registers to identify key risks and ensure they are actively monitored and managed; 

 The maintenance of up to date policies and procedures, including fully tested business continuity plans; 

and 

 The delegation to various committees of the oversight of how well the Bank manages risk.  The main 

committees in this respect are the Audit & Risk Committee, the Executive Committee (‘EXCO’), and the 

Asset & Liability Committee (‘ALCO’). 

Ultimate responsibility for the overall framework and the risk management strategy continues to reside with the 

Board and all aspects of the ERMF are reviewed, amended where appropriate and approved at least annually by 

the Board to ensure they remain in line with best practice and are consistent with the Bank’s overall strategic 

objectives. 

Principal Risks 

The principal risks to which the Bank is exposed and an outline of the principal means by which those risks are 

managed are set out below:  

Credit risk: the risk that a loss will be incurred if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its obligations. Credit risk 

during the year arose principally in three areas: 

30,304 

(4,612)

10,081 

(21,996)

19,608 

31,394 23,498 

16,018 

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18

Customer account growth (£k)

Retail deposit growth Cardholder liability growth

2.46%
2.69%

3.37% 3.46%

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18

Net interest margin
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 Within the Bank’s Lending division through the provision of hire purchase facilities and loans originated 

through partner relationships (as described above);   

 Through the Payment Services division’s investment of cardholder balances with counterparty banks and 

in short-term government or quasi-governmental securities;   

 Finally in respect of amounts due to the Bank in the settlement of ATM disbursements.   

The Lending division includes hire purchase facilities where the underlying assets serve as collateral and risk 

mitigant against the loan exposures. As noted above, since the year-end, the Bank has signed an agreement to sell 

this portfolio. Therefore the credit risk on these individual loans has been mitigated by the agreed recoverable 

price on sale. As referred to above, in the case of Lending division partner relationships, an important mitigant of 

the credit risk is the fact that the Bank has an arrangement whereby the partner will buy back outstanding 

balances of a certain delinquency (as defined in each contract).  This has the effect of transferring the credit risk 

associated with individual advances to the relevant partner but it does in turn create credit risk for the Bank on 

that partner.  In this context it is important to note that in the event of a failure of a partner, the Bank has 

contingency plans in place under which it would take over administration of the loans. The underlying loan 

documentation provides for the Bank to have direct right of recourse to each borrower and all cash flows 

associated with individual loans are routed through and under the control of the Bank.   

Institutions and all Sovereigns must have a short term prime rating from one or more of the rating agencies.  Limits 

are placed on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one counterparty or group of counterparties.  The ALCO 

reviews counterparty limits quarterly and recommends changes to such limits as necessary based on ratings 

assigned by the major Credit Rating Agencies and any other market intelligence available.  Other unrated 

counterparties may be added if specific approval is granted by the ALCO.  No transactions can be undertaken with 

counterparties which do not have a pre-approved limit.  The maximum exposure to any individual counterparty or 

connected group of counterparties is limited to the Bank’s total regulatory capital.   

Operational risk: the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 

and systems or from external events arising from day-to-day operating activities.  The Bank seeks to mitigate this 

risk through a variety of measures including maintaining up-to-date policies and procedures for all key internal 

processes, ensuring its staff receive ongoing training, investing in appropriate systems, having documented and 

tested business continuity plans and, wherever possible, ensuring that it has a diversified spread of counterparties, 

business partners and suppliers.  A key aspect of operational risk is the Bank’s use of outsource service providers. 

Each of the Bank’s operating divisions and support functions have processes and procedures by which they 

monitor and review outsourced third parties’ activity and performance.  The adequacy of these processes and 

procedures is regularly reviewed by the Bank’s compliance, risk and internal audit functions.  In the prior year, the 

Bank undertook a project to review, refine and improve the governance and operational processes surrounding 

these outsourced relationships.  The first and second line of defence have been strengthened through this project.  

The EXCO is the Bank’s principal forum for monitoring operational risk which it does through a variety of means 

including the use of risk registers, operational loss databases, control self-assessments as well as regular reviews of 

operational divisions and functional areas by compliance and internal audit. 

Conduct risk: The Bank defines conduct risk as the risk that through action or inaction by the Bank, or by its 
employees or suppliers: one or more of its products and/or services fails to deliver consistently good outcomes for 
its customers; or it breaches a regulatory rule or guideline, impacts market integrity or competition; or it breaches 
a law.  The conduct risk governance framework mirrors other aspects of the Bank’s ERMF and is actively managed 
at all levels within the Bank through training, the establishment of risk appetite and tolerances and the use of 
appropriate Key Risk Indicators and other management information. 
 
Liquidity risk: the risk that the Bank either does not have available cash or cannot obtain sufficient financial 

resources to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall due, or only secure such resources at an excessive cost.  

The Bank’s policy is to maintain liquid assets at all times which are adequate, both as to amount and quality, to 

ensure that there is no significant risk that its liabilities cannot be met as they fall due both in business-as-usual 
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and stressed scenarios.  The liquidity policy details liquidity risk limits set by the Board and day-to-day 

responsibility for ensuring these are adhered to rests with the ALCO.  The Bank completes an Individual Liquidity 

Adequacy Assessment Process (‘ILAAP’) at least annually to assess its compliance with the liquidity systems and 

controls requirements as detailed in the PRA Rulebook.   

Interest rate risk: the risk of reductions in income arising from unfavourable movements in interest rates and/or 

reductions in the fair value of financial instruments.  This risk is managed within approved limits set by the Board 

and is monitored by the ALCO.  Details of the Bank’s interest rate sensitivity are set out in Note 33 of these 

financial statements. 

Foreign exchange risk: the risk of loss arising from unfavourable movements in currency exchange rates.  These 

risks are managed within approved limits set by the Board and are monitored by the ALCO.  Traditionally the 

principal area of the Bank’s business where foreign exchange risk arises is within the ATM division, where Euro and 

US Dollar notes are held in ATMs prior to them being dispensed.  Additionally the Bank is exposed to foreign 

exchange risk when ATM transactions are settled in a differing currency to the original transaction.  In its fiscal year 

2018, the Bank saw an overall net loss of £0.1m (2017: net gain of £0.5m) in the profit and loss arising from 

(principally) movements in the £:€ exchange rate impacting the value of its ATM notes.  The Bank has also been 

exposed to significant foreign exchange risk on its Visa Inc. shareholding, which is denominated in US Dollars.  An 

unrealised fx loss of £1.0m (2017: £1.4m gain) has been recognised on these shares in other comprehensive 

income.  An fx gain of £0.1m (2017: £0.1m gain) was also recognised in the profit and loss on the Visa deferred 

Euro payment.  This was offset by fx losses of £0.02m on a fx swap entered into during the year. While a large 

proportion (82%) of payment services cardholder liabilities are in currencies other than sterling, the equivalent 

bank balance or investment is held in the same currency to ensure a matched position and to mitigate any foreign 

exchange risk.  Details of the Bank’s net foreign currency assets and liabilities are set out in Note 33 of these 

financial statements. 

Regulatory risk: the risk that the Bank does not adhere to the changing regulatory environment in which it 

operates thereby threatening the achievement of the firm’s goals and objectives, possibly damaging its reputation 

and giving rise to it being censured or fined by a regulator.  The Bank seeks to mitigate such risks by ensuring there 

is a suitable level of expertise within each of its operating divisions which is then supported by a strong central 

compliance team and the use of risk-based compliance monitoring plans to monitor and ensure the Bank’s ongoing 

adherence to relevant laws and regulations.  At least annually, internal audit also undertakes a review of the 

Bank’s overall management of regulatory risk.    

Principal Uncertainties Facing the Bank 

As detailed earlier in this Report, the Bank has implemented various strategic decisions which would result in the 

sale or contraction of the Bank’s products and businesses.  The final amounts to be received from any and all asset 

sales, the timing of those asset sales, the final timing of the exit from Payment Services, and the sale of the ATM 

business are still subject to significant uncertainty.  

The regulatory environment within the UK and the EU remains challenging, with regulators’ interpretations of 

statute varying between countries and a culture of interventionist regulatory activity.  It is the Bank’s intention to 

maintain in place a framework which will ensure compliance with all relevant laws and regulations as we progress 

through asset sales and exiting business divisions, which will involve consideration of new regulations impacting 

the Bank’s business. 

The level of UK interest rates has a mixed impact on the Bank’s business.  Overall, the Directors consider that the 

Bank is well positioned to deal with any sudden interest rate movements. 
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Directors’ report 
The Directors present their report together with the financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2018. 

Information presented in other sections 
Certain information required to be included in a Directors’ report can be found in the other sections of the Annual 

report as described below.  All of the information presented in these sections is incorporated by reference into this 

Directors’ report and is deemed to form part of this report: 

 Commentary on the Company’s results for the year, assets and capital together with likely future 

developments in the business of the Company is included in the Strategic report; 

 Commentary on the Company’s principal risks and uncertainties is set out in the Strategic report; 

 A description of the Company’s financial risk management objectives and policies and its exposure to risks 

arising from its use of financial instruments are set out in Note 33 to the financial statements. 

Principal activities 

The Company is engaged in the business of banking and related financial services.  This principally includes the 

provision of lending in the form of loans and hire purchase facilities, the issuance of prepaid cards in the UK and 

Europe, offering savings accounts to retail customers, together with ATM machines at high street and major 

gateway destinations.  The Bank is a principal member of Visa, MasterCard and the LINK network.  

Going concern 
In preparing the financial statements the Directors carried out an appropriate assessment of going concern to 

satisfy themselves that it is reasonable to adopt the going concern basis, taking into account all available 

information about the future and factors likely to affect the future position of the Bank, including current and 

projected performance, capital structure, and liquidity.  The Bank’s forecasts and projections under a number of 

scenarios and stresses show that the Bank will be able to operate at adequate levels of both liquidity and capital 

and the ability to meet its future obligations for the foreseeable future.   

As noted in the Strategic Report, the Bank’s shareholder has decided to realise its financial interest in the Bank 

through a share sale or via a sale by the Bank of various asset parts.  While the commitment has remained to 

achieving a sale, the Bank’s Board has since year-end taken a decision to cease writing new motor loans.  The Bank 

has subsequently completed an agreement on 6th July 2018 to sell the outstanding motor loan receivables. The 

Bank will continue to explore opportunities to sell its continuing lending business.  

After making extensive enquiries the Directors are satisfied that the Bank has adequate capital, liquidity and other 

resources to continue for the foreseeable future and that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in 

preparing the financial statements.   

The activities of the Bank, its current operations and those factors likely to affect its future results and 

development, together with a description of its financial position, funding position and principal risks and 

uncertainties affecting the Bank are described in the Strategic report.  

Results and dividends  
The loss for the year after taxation amounted to £4,449k (2017: profit  £22,035k).  The Directors have not paid an 

interim ordinary dividend (2017: £nil) and are not recommending a final dividend (2017: £nil). 
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities  
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic report, the Directors’ report and the financial statements 

in accordance with applicable law and regulations.   

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  Under that law they 

have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(‘IFRS’) as adopted by the EU and applicable law.   

Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that 

period.  In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:  

 Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;   

 Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;   

 State whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU; and   

 Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Company will continue in business.   

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 

Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company 

and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They have general 

responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to 

prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 

included on the Company’s website.  Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 

statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.  
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Independent auditor’s report to the member of 
R. Raphael & Sons plc 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of R. Raphaels & Son plc (the ‘Bank’) for the year ended 28 February 
2018 which comprise the income statement, the statement of other comprehensive income, the balance sheet, 
the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the Bank’s affairs as at 28 February 2018 and the Bank’s loss 
for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, as applied to public interest entities and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where: 

 the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 

is not appropriate; or 

 the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that 

may cast significant doubt about the Bank’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 

accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: 
the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement 
team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Key audit matter How our audit address this key audit matter 

Discontinued operations and assets held for sale 
 
Risk: subjective judgement in respect of classification and 
measurement and related disclosures 
 
 
 

Classification and disclosure 
Our audit procedures included: 

• We reviewed management’s 
judgements regarding the 
classification of discontinued 
operations and assets held for sale.  
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As described in the Business Review and in  
Notes 3.3 and 4 of the Financial Statements, three 
operating segments are classified as discontinued 
operations and their results presented in a single line item 
of the dace of the income statement.  Assets in the Lending 
Hire Purchase and ATM segments are being recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than 
continuing use and are therefore presented as non-current 
assets classified as held for sale in the balance sheet.  The 
Payment Services Business is being wound down over the 
next two years and consequently it is not treated as an 
asset held for sale.   
 
Judgement is required to determine whether the criteria 
set out in IFRS 5 in order to meet the classification has been 
met. 
   
Furthermore, estimates are required to determine the 
recoverable amount of the respective operations at the 
year end.  As a result of this exercise, write downs of £2.6m 
and £0.7m were applied to Lending Hire Purchase and ATM 
businesses respectively, as further set out in notes 25 and 
26.  
 
 
 
 

• For businesses held for sale, we 
challenged management on the 
criteria that each business was 
available for immediate sale in the 
present condition and the likelihood of 
sale and corroborated the basis to 
evidence including board meeting 
minutes and sale agreements. 

• We reviewed the allocation of income 
and expenses to discontinued 
operations including allocation of 
expenses from Central operations.  

• We reviewed the presentation of 
discontinued operations and assets 
held for sale in the income statement 
and balance sheet as well as related 
note disclosures for compliance with 
IFRS 5.   

Measurement  
Our audit procedures included: 

• We reviewed management’s allocation 
of assets and liabilities to the 
respective operations. 

• We reviewed management’s 
calculations in respect of the valuation 
of the Lending Hire Purchase assets 
with reference to the sale contract 
agreed post year end. In particular we 
considered the judgement applied in 
respect of deferred elements of 
consideration.  

• We reviewed and tested 
management’s impairment 
assessment of the ATM and Motor 
Lending assets.  

We found that the classification and 
measurement basis of discontinued operations 
and assets held for sale and related 
presentation and disclosures were in line with 
IFRS 5. 

Going concern 
 
Risk: Uncertainty due to future strategy of the Bank 
As set out in note 1.4 of the Financial Statements, the 
Directors have performed an assessment as to the Bank’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting. They concluded that it is appropriate to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the annual financial 
statements.    

However, as set out in the Strategic report on page 1, the 
Bank’s shareholder has decided to realise its financial 
interest in the Bank through a share sale or via a sale by the 
Bank of various asset parts.   
As further described in the Business Review, the Income 
Statement and in note 4 of the Financial Statements, the 

Our audit procedures over the applicability of 
the going concern basis of preparation of the 
financial statements and adequacy and 
appropriateness of the financial statement 
disclosures included, but were not limited to, 
the following: 

• Reviewed and challenged 
management’s assessment of going 
concern including assessment of the 
scenarios considered;  

• Reviewed the forecast results, capital 
and liquidity, as set out in board 
approved business plans, and the 
estimates of the future reorganisation 
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three operating segments classified as discontinued 
operations reported a £1.8m profit after tax.  The 
continuing operations reported a loss after tax of £6.2m in 
the year and are expected to contract as part of the future 
strategy of the Bank.   

As described in the principal uncertainties facing the bank 
on page 8, the timing of and the final amounts to be 
received on the exit of Payment Services are still subject to 
significant uncertainty.  The impact of the contraction in 
continuing operations is similarly subject to uncertainty.   
However, the Board is satisfied that there are sufficient 
resources, including capital and liquidity, in any of the 
scenarios under consideration.  

plans used to determine the Bank’s 
regulatory resolution plan; 

• Reviewed adequacy of disclosures 
provided in the financial statements 
and whether management’s 
consideration of the uncertainties 
identified represented a material 
uncertainty.  

The Directors have a reasonable basis for 
concluding that the going concern basis of 
preparation of the financial statements is 
appropriate.   

We found that the related financial statements 
disclosures are adequate and appropriate. 

Revenue recognition 
 
Risk: fraud in revenue recognition 
As the majority of the Bank’s revenue is system generated, 
the risk of fraud in revenue recognition relates to the 
calculation of interest income where transaction costs and 
fees paid and received are included in the effective interest 
rate.   

As set out in note 2.2 of the financial statements, the bank 
applies IAS 39 to recognise interest income using the 
effective interest rate (“EIR”) method. This requires 
assumptions in determining the expected life of loan 
instruments calculated using a model at a portfolio level. 

Key judgments made by management, as set out in note 
3.1, include determining cash flows relevant for EIR 
calculation and the period to which they are allocated over 
the life of the loan. 

We consider the risk of misstated revenue recognition in 
respect of EIR adjustments to be a key audit matter. 

For the year ended 28 February 2018, the principal EIR 
adjustments relate to motor lending hire purchase income 
(£10.7m) which is included in profit from discontinued 
operations as disclosed in note 4 of the financial 
statements. 

 
 
We assessed the design and tested the 
operating effectiveness of the controls in place 
at the Bank relating to revenue recognition.   

With respect to EIR calculations our procedures 
included: 

• an assessment of the inputs and 
assumptions used in the EIR model; 

• sample testing of the data used to 
derive the average loan term and also 
the allocation of cash flows over the 
average term of the loan; 

• verification of the mathematical 
accuracy of the EIR adjustment 
calculated by management. 

We found that the judgements and estimates 
applied in determining the basis for revenue 
recognition were reasonable. 

Our application of materiality 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds 
for materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit 
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and 
disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements as a 
whole. Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a 
whole as follows: 
 

Overall materiality £190,000 

How we determined it 0.52% of tier 1 capital of the bank 

Rationale for benchmark applied Tier 1 capital is considered an appropriate benchmark given this is 
the basis of measuring regulatory capital adequacy.  In 
determining the percentage applied, we have taken into 
consideration that the Bank is a public interest entity and the 



 

16 

 [Category] 

intention of its shareholders to sell parts of or all of the businesses 
of the bank.   

Performance materiality Performance materiality is set to reduce to an appropriately low 
level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and 
undetected misstatements in the financial statements exceeds 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Performance 
materiality of £130,000 was applied in the audit. 

Reporting threshold We agreed with the charged with governance that we would 
report to them misstatements identified during our audit above 
£9,500 as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our 
view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. 

An overview of the scope of our audit 
Our audit involved obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including 
the allocation of our resources and effort, are discussed under “Key audit matters” within this report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on 
the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the Bank’s accounting processes and controls, and the 
industry in which it operates. We used the outputs of a risk assessment, our understanding of the Bank, and we 
also considered qualitative factors in order to ensure that we obtained sufficient coverage across all financial 
statement line items. 

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report and financial statements other than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to 
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

 the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and  

 the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Bank and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
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Income Statement 
For the year ended 28 February 2018 
 

Note 2018) 20171

£’000) £’000)

Net interest income  2,147 1,545 

Interest income 5 3,133 2,810 

Interest expense 5 (986) (1,265)

Non-interest (expense)/revenue  (382) 25,189 

Fee and commission income 6  - 10 

Fee and commission expense 6 (296) (210)

Gain on disposal of available for sale security 14  - 24,720 

Other (expense)/ income 7 (86) 669 

Total operating income  1,765 26,734 

Operating expenses 8 (9,434) (7,540)

Operating (loss)/profit before impairment charges  (7,669) 19,194 

Credit impairment charge 16  -  - 

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (7,669) 19,194 

Income tax credit/ (charge) 10.1 1,468 (3,755)

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations  (6,201) 15,439 

Profit from discontinued operation 4, 25 1,752 6,596 

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders  (4,449) 22,035  
1The Income Statement and related Notes have been re-presented for the application of discontinued operations 
presentation for the Payment Services division and motor hire purchase receivables, according to IFRS 5. 
Additional information is presented in Notes 4 and 25. 

Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 28 February 2018 

Note 2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders  (4,449) 22,035 

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:  

Available for sale investments  1,675 (16,151)

Fair value gains 2,017 4,617 

Fair value gains reclassified to the income statement  - (24,720)

Taxation 10.3 (342) 3,952 

Total comprehensive (expense)/income attributable to equity shareholders (2,774) 5,884  
 
The Notes on pages 22 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements. 

  





R. Raphael & Sons plc 
Annual report and financial statements 

For the year ended 28 February 2018 

20 

 [Category] 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 28 February 2018 

Share)

capital)

Share)

premium)

Available)

for sale)

reserve.

Retained)

earnings)

Total)

equity)

£’000) £’000 £’000) £’000) £’000)

Balance as at 1 March 2016 13,600 900 17,764 9,427 41,691 

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  -  - (16,151) 22,035 5,884 

Balance as at 28 February 2017 13,600 900 1,613 31,462 47,575 

Balance as at 1 March 2017 13,600 900 1,613 31,462 47,575 

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year  -  - 1,675 (4,449) (2,774)

Balance as at 28 February 2018 13,600 900 3,288 27,013 44,801 

Reserves

 

The Notes on pages 22 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows  
For the year ended 28 February 2018 

Note 2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (5,480) 27,439 

 - Continuing operations  (7,669) 19,194 

 - Discontinued operation  2,189 8,245 

Adjusted for:  

Amortisation of intangible assets  256 254 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  120 177 

Impairment of disposal group 26 713 995 

Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  1 (5)

Credit impairment charges and write down 16, 26 5,388 1,763 

Gain on disposal of available for sale security 14  - (24,720)

Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative instruments 7 288 (435)

Unrealised foreign exchange losses/(gains)  672 (464)

  1,958 5,004 

Net increase in income-earning assets 29.1 (7,714) (12,974)

Tax paid 29.3 (1,306) (3,496)

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (7,062) (11,466)

 

Cash flows used in investing activities  

Acquisition of intangible assets  (551) (152)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (367) (178)

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment  1 14 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (917) (316)

  

Cash flows used in financing activities  

Net (decrease)/increase in funding and other l iabilities 29.2 (28,498) 31,798

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities  (28,498) 31,798 

  

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating, investing and financing  (36,477) 20,016 

Fair value gain/(loss) included in cash equivalents  27 (34)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (36,450) 19,982 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 294,715 257,338 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents held  (1,809) 17,395 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 29.4 256,456 294,715 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1. Basis of preparation 

1.1 Reporting entity 

R. Raphael & Sons plc (‘Bank’ or ‘Company’) is a private company incorporated and domiciled in the UK.  The 

Bank’s registered office is at 19-21 Shaftesbury Avenue, London, W1D 7ED.  The Company is engaged in the 

business of banking and related financial services.  The financial statements contain information about the Bank as 

an individual company and do not contain consolidated financial information as the parent of a group.  The Bank is 

exempt under section 400 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial 

statements as it, and its subsidiary undertaking, are included by full consolidation in the consolidated financial 

statements of its parent, Lenlyn Holdings Limited (together with its subsidiaries, the ‘Lenlyn Group’), which are 

publicly available. 

1.2 Basis of preparation   

The Company financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(‘IASB’), and as adopted by the European Union.  

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out in Note 2.  

The accounting policies have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 

financial statements.   

There were no new standards or interpretations effective for the first time for the period 1 March 2017 that had a 

significant effect on the Bank’s financial statements, although an amendment to IAS 7 Statement of Cash flows has 

resulted in an reconciliation of liabilities disclosed for the first time in Note 29.2. 

1.3 Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the fair 

valuation of available for sale instruments, derivative instruments and freehold property, as permitted under IFRS. 

1.4 Going concern  

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.  

Accounting standards require the Directors to assess the Bank’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 

basis of accounting.  In performing this assessment, the Directors consider all available information about the 

future, the possible outcomes of events and changes in conditions and the realistically possible responses to such 

events and conditions that would be available to them if uncertainties existed about the ability of the Bank to 

meet any of its future obligations. 

In order to assess the appropriateness of the going concern basis the Directors considered possible future 

developments and changes in operating structures, the Bank’s financial position, the cash flow requirements laid 

out in its forecasts, its access to retail funding, the assumptions underlying the forecasts and the potential risks 

affecting them.  After performing this assessment, notwithstanding the direct impact of selling parts of the 

business and consequential changes to the organisation, the Directors concluded that it was appropriate for them 

to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual financial statements. 

The business activities of the Bank, its current operations and those factors likely to affect its future results and 

development, together with a description of its financial position and funding position, are described in the ‘Sale of 

the Bank / Strategic Developments’ and ‘Business Review’ sections of the Strategic report.  The principal risks and 

uncertainties affecting the Bank, and the steps taken to mitigate these risks are described in ‘Principal Risks’ 

section of the Strategic report. 
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2. Accounting policies  

2.1 Foreign currency translations 
Functional and presentation currency 
The financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling which is the Company’s functional and presentation 

currency, and all amounts, unless otherwise indicated, are stated in thousands (£’000). 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Sterling at exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 

transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 

translation of monetary assets and liabilities, denominated in foreign currencies, at year end exchange rates are 

recognised in the income statement.  

Exchange rate differences on non-monetary items are accounted for based on the classification of the underlying 

items.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost, 

are translated using the exchange rate at the transaction date.  Foreign exchange gains and losses on equities 

classified as available for sale financial assets, are recognised in other comprehensive income (‘OCI’) in the 

available for sale reserve. 

2.2 Interest 

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method 

(‘EIR’).  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and 

receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability to the carrying amount of the financial asset or 

liability.  When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all 

contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses.  

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all transaction costs, premiums or discounts and all fees paid 

or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  Transaction costs include incremental costs that 

are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability. 

Once a financial asset or group of similar assets have been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest 

income continues to be recognised using the original EIR on the revised carrying amount. 

2.3 Fees and commission 

Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or 

liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.  Other fees and commission income are 

recognised on an accruals basis as the related services are performed.  Other fees and commission expenses relate 

mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services are received. 

2.4 Tax expense 

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in the income 

statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive 

income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 

years.   

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  Deferred tax is measured 

at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities against current tax assets, and they relate 

to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity.  
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A deferred tax asset is recognised for tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 

probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 

benefit will be realised. 

2.5 Financial instruments 

(i)  Recognition and initial measurement  

Financial instruments include all financial assets and liabilities.  These instruments are typically held for liquidity, 

investment, commercial or hedging purposes.  All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value plus 

directly attributable transaction costs.  The Bank initially recognises loans and advances, and deposits on the date 

at which they are originated, and all other financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the settlement 

date of the transactions.  

(ii)  Subsequent measurement  

Subsequent to initial measurement, financial instruments are measured either at fair value or amortised cost, 

depending on their classification. 

a) Financial assets 

The Bank classifies its financial assets as either: 

 Loans and receivables; or 

 Available for sale; or 

 Fair value through profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market and that the Bank does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.  These are initially 

measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the financial asset.  Subsequently, 

these are measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. 

The amortised cost is the amount advanced less principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation 

using the EIR method of any difference between the amount advanced and the maturity amount less impairment 

provisions for incurred losses. 

Loans and receivables mainly comprise loans and advances to banks and customers and hire purchase agreement 

receivables. 

A hire purchase agreement is a contract that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 

of an asset to the lessee.  Hire purchase agreement receivables are recognised as loans at an amount equal to the 

gross investment in the lease, discounted at its effective interest rate.   

Available for sale 
Available for sale financial assets are debt securities or other investments that are not held for trading and are 

intended to be held for an indefinite period of time.  These are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to the financial asset.  Subsequently, they are measured at fair value based on 

current quoted bid prices in active markets for identical assets at the reporting date.  Where there is no active 

market or the securities are unlisted, the fair values are based on commonly used valuation techniques.  Interest 

income and foreign currency translation gains or losses on debt instruments are recognised in the income 

statement using the EIR method.  Dividend income on long term investments are also recognised in the income 

statement. Other fair value changes are recognised in OCI and presented in the available for sale reserve in equity.  

On disposal, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to the income statement.   
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Fair value through profit or loss 
The Bank uses derivative financial instruments for risk management and investment purposes rather than as a 

trading strategy.  Derivatives are recognised at fair value with the gain or loss on re-measurement recognised in 

the income statement.  All derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when 

the fair value is negative. 

b) Financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities are contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset.  Financial liabilities are 

recognised initially at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs for financial liabilities other than 

derivatives.  Financial liabilities, other than derivatives, are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are recognised initially at fair value, which equates to issue proceeds net of 

transaction costs incurred.  They are subsequently stated at amortised cost.  Any difference between proceeds net 

of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the 

borrowings using the effective interest method. 

c) Impairment of financial assets 

Loans and receivables 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a loan or group of loans is 

impaired.  A loan or group of loans is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after 

initial recognition which has a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of the loan or group of loans that 

can be estimated reliably. 

Criteria that are used by the Company in determining whether there is objective evidence of impairment include: 

 Known cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower; and 

 A breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest and/or principal payments. 

Identified incurred losses 

The Company first assesses whether there is objective evidence of impairment individually for loans that are 

individually significant and then collectively for loans that are not individually significant. 

When a loan carried at amortised cost has been identified as individually significant, the carrying amount of the 

loan is reduced to an amount equal to the present value of its estimated future cash flows, including the 

recoverable amount of any collateral, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  The 

carrying amount of the loan is reduced through the use of a credit impairment account and the loss is recognised 

as a credit impairment charge in the income statement. 

Retail loan portfolios with no individually significant loans are assessed collectively for impairment.  Impairments 

of groups of loans that are assessed collectively are recognised where there is objective evidence that a loss event 

has occurred after the initial recognition of the group of loans but before the reporting date.  For the purposes of 

the assessment, loans with similar credit risk characteristics are grouped together – generally on the basis of their 

product type, past due status and other factors relevant to the evaluation of expected future cash flows.  The 

impairment assessment includes estimating the expected future cash flows from the group of assets, which are 

then discounted at the loan portfolio’s original effective interest rate.  If this is lower than the carrying value of the 

assets, the carrying amount of the portfolio is reduced through the use of a credit impairment account and the loss 

is recognised as a credit impairment charge in the income statement. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases, and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 

is reversed by adjusting the allowance account.  The amount of the reversal is recognised in the income statement. 
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Following impairment, interest income continues to be recognised at the original effective interest rate on the 

restated carrying amount.  Uncollectable loans are written off against the related allowance for loan impairment 

on completion of the Bank’s internal processes and once all recoverable amounts have been collected.  

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the income statement. 

Losses incurred but not yet identified 

In order to provide for latent losses that have not yet been identified as impaired, a credit impairment provision 

for incurred but not yet identified losses, is recognised based on past loss experience adjusted for changes in 

economic conditions and the nature and level of risk exposure since the recording of the historic losses.  The 

model also includes an estimated emergence period, being the time period between the loss trigger events and 

the date on which the Company identifies the losses.  The carrying amount of groups of loans is reduced through 

the use of a credit impairment account and the loss is recognised as a credit impairment charge in the income 

statement. 

Available for sale financial investments 
The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is evidence that available for sale financial 

investments (debt or equity) will not be recovered in full and, wherever necessary, recognises an impairment loss 

in the income statement.  An impairment loss is recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 

of events that have occurred and these have adversely impacted the estimated future cash flows from the assets. 

Impairment of available for sale debt instruments 

Debt instruments are assessed for impairment in the same way as loans.  If impairment is deemed to have 

occurred, the cumulative decline in the fair value of the instrument that has previously been recognised in the 

available for sale reserve is removed from reserves and recognised in the income statement.  This may be reversed 

if there is evidence that the circumstances of the issuer have improved. 

Impairment of available for sale equity instruments 

Where there has been a prolonged or significant decline in the fair value of an equity instrument below its 

acquisition cost, it is deemed to be impaired.  The cumulative net loss that has been previously recognised directly 

in the available for sale reserve is removed from reserves and recognised in the income statement.  Further 

declines in the fair value of equity instruments after impairment are recognised in the income statement. 

Reversal of available for sale impairments 

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available for sale debt instrument increases and the 

increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then the 

impairment loss is reversed through the income statement; otherwise, any increase in fair value is recognised 

through OCI.  Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available for sale equity security is always 

recognised in OCI. 

Other financial assets 
The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is evidence that other financial assets such as trade 

debtors, will not be recovered in full and, wherever necessary, recognises an impairment loss in the income 

statement.  An impairment loss is recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of events that 

have occurred and these have adversely impacted the estimated future cash flows from the assets. 

d) Fair value measurement  

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 

willing parties in an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date.  

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active market for that 

instrument.  A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and represent actual 

and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.  
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If a market for a financial instrument is not active, then the Bank establishes fair value using a valuation technique 

that maximises the use of market inputs, relies as little as possible on estimates specific to the Bank, incorporates 

all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price, and is consistent with accepted economic 

methodologies for pricing financial instruments.  

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price, i.e. the 

fair value of the consideration given or received.  When transaction price provides the best evidence of fair value 

at initial recognition, the financial instrument is initially measured at the transaction price and any difference 

between this price and the value initially obtained from a valuation model is subsequently recognised in the 

income statement on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument. 

Assets and long positions are measured at a bid price; liabilities and short positions are measured at an asking 

price.   

e) Derecognition of financial instruments 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 

expired, or where the Company has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows on the financial asset 

such that it has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.   

When a financial asset is derecognised in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of 

the consideration received is recognised in the income statement.  When available for sale financial assets are 

derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss, including that previously recognised in reserves, is recognised in the 

income statement. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.  Any difference 

between the carrying amount of a financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in the 

income statement.  

f) Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally 

enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle the asset and the liability on 

a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains 

and losses arising from a group of similar transactions. 

2.6 Intangible assets 

Computer software 

Software acquired by the Bank is capitalised as an intangible asset where the software is an identifiable asset 

which will generate future economic benefits. Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 

and accumulated impairment losses.  Amortisation is calculated, using the straight-line method, to allocate the 

depreciable amount of the assets to their residual values over the estimated useful lives of the software, which are 

between 3 and 5 years. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred.  

2.7 Property, plant and equipment 

Historic cost 
Equipment, furniture, computer hardware and vehicles are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses.  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 

asset.  Costs that are subsequently incurred are included in the asset’s related carrying amount or are recognised 

as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Bank 
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and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure, which does not meet these criteria, is recognised 

in the income statement as incurred.  

Depreciation, impairment losses and gains and losses on disposal of assets are included in the income statement. 

Property and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets to 

their residual values.  The assets’ residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method applied are reviewed, 

and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end. 

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 Fixtures, fittings and equipment 5 years (2017: 5 years) 

 Computer hardware  3 years (2017: 3 years) 

 Motor vehicles   5 years (2017: 5 years) 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.  

Items of property and equipment are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 

from their use or disposal.  The gain or loss on derecognition is recorded in the income statement and is 

determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item.   

Revaluation model 
Freehold property is considered to have a remaining useful economic life in excess of 50 years and is carried at a 

revalued amount under the revaluation model.  The revalued amount represents the fair value at the date of 

revaluation.  Revaluations are carried out on 3 year intervals unless there are indicators of a material change in 

value, in which case valuations are carried out more frequently.   

When an asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase is recognised in OCI and 

accumulated in a separate reserve within equity.  However, the increase is recognised in profit and loss to the 

extent that it reverses a revaluation loss of the same asset previously recognised in the income statement.  A 

decrease of an asset’s carrying amount as a result of a revaluation is recognised in OCI to the extent of any 

previously recognised revaluation gains accumulated in equity, in respect of that asset.  If the revaluation loss 

exceeds the accumulated revaluation gains accumulated in equity in respect of that asset, the excess is recognised 

in the income statement. 

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets are reviewed at least annually to determine whether there 

is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount (being the 

greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use) is estimated.  Value in use is calculated by discounting the 

future cash flows from continuing use of the asset.  If the carrying value of the asset is more than the greater of 

the value in use and the fair value less costs to sell, an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 

recognised. 

2.9 Provisions and contingent liabilities 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that 

can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation.  Onerous contract provisions are recognised for losses on contracts where the cost of fulfilling the 

contract throughout the contract period exceeds the forecast income receivable.  

Contingent liabilities are disclosed when the Bank has a present obligation as a result of a past event, but the 

probability that it will be required to settle that obligation is more than remote, but not probable. 
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2.10 Assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

Assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than continuing use, are classified as a 

disposal group held for sale.  Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets are re-measured in 

accordance with the Bank’s accounting policies and tested for impairment.  Thereafter, the disposal group is 

measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  Impairment losses on initial 

classification as held for sale and subsequent gains and losses on re-measurement are recognised in the income 

statement.  The assets held for sale are presented separately in the balance sheet.  Property and equipment and 

intangible assets, once classified as held for sale, are not depreciated or amortised. 

The Bank classifies a component of the business as a discontinued operation when that component has been 

disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and it: 

 Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, or 

 Is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical are of 

operations. 

The results of discontinued operations are shown as a single amount in the income statement comprising the post-

tax profit or loss. 

2.11 Segmental reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Bank engaged in business activities, whose operating results are 

reviewed regularly by management in order to make decisions about resources to be allocated to segments and to 

assess segment performance.  The Bank’s identification of segments and the measurement of segment results are 

based on the Bank’s internal reporting to management.  Transactions between segments are priced at market-

related rates.  

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the statement of cashflows comprises cash balances, balances with central 

banks, debt securities and placements with banks with a maturity of three months or less.  These balances are 

readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

2.13 Operating Leases 

Rentals made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight line basis over the term 

of the lease. 

2.14 Reserves 

The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity: 

 Share premium: Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value 

 Available-for-sale reserve: Gains/losses arising on financial assets classified as available for sale 

 Retained earnings: All other net gains and losses not recognised elsewhere 

2.15 Employee benefits 

Post retirement obligations 
The Company contributes to defined contribution schemes and to individual defined contribution schemes for the 
benefit of certain employees.  The schemes are funded through payments to insurance companies or trustee-
administered funds at the contribution rates agreed with individual employees.  

The Company has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.  The contributions are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due.  Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset 
to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available. 

There are no post-retirement benefits other than pensions. 
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2.16 Future accounting developments 

The following new standards are not yet effective for the year ended 28 February 2018 and have not been applied 

in preparing these annual financial statements. 

 

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments 

Under IFRS 9 financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model under which they are held 

and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows.  The standard also introduces a new expected loss 

impairment model that will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses.   

Expected credit losses are required to be measured at an amount equal to either 12 month expected credit losses 

or full lifetime expected credit losses.  A loss allowance for full lifetime expected credit losses is required for a 

financial instrument if the credit risk of that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 

recognition.  For all other financial instruments, expected credit losses should be measured at an amount equal to 

12 month expected credit losses. 

IFRS 9 will be effective for the Bank for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2018.  The Bank has 

established an IFRS 9 programme.  The programme is jointly sponsored by the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Risk 

Officer.  The key features of the programme include defining the IFRS 9 methodology and accounting policies, 

identifying data, reconciliation and system requirements, and the development and establishment of appropriate 

and compliant operating models within an appropriate governance framework. 

The effect from the remeasurement of financial assets and liabilities as a consequence of classification changes is 

expected to be minimal.  

These estimates are based on accounting policies, judgements and estimation techniques that remain subject to 

change until the Bank finalises its financial statements for the year ending 28 February 2019 

There will be nil effect from the remeasurement of financial assets and liabilities as a consequence of classification 

changes. 

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers 

This standard will replace the existing revenue standards and their related interpretations.  The standard sets out 

the requirements for recognising revenue that applies to all contracts with customers (except for contracts that 

are within the scope of the standards on leases, insurance contracts or financial instruments). 

The core principle of the standard is that revenue recognised reflects the consideration to which the Company 

expects to be entitled in exchange for the transfer of promised goods or services to the customer.  The standard 

incorporates a five step analysis to determine the amount and timing of revenue recognition. 

IFRS 15 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard is not expected to 

have a material impact on the Company’s results. 

IFRS 16 - Leases 

This standard will replace the existing standard, IAS 17 Leases, and sets out the principles for the recognition, 

measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract, being the lessee (customer) and 

the lessor (supplier).  The core principle of this standard is that the lessee and lessor should recognise all rights and 

obligations arising from leasing arrangements on balance sheet.   

The most significant change pertaining to the accounting treatment of operating leases is from the lessees’ 

perspective.  IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases as is 

required by IAS 17 and introduces a single lessee accounting model, where a right of use asset together with a 
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liability for the future payments is to be recognised for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 

underlying asset is of low value.   

The lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17 has not changed substantially in terms of this standard.  As a result, a 

lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases and accounts for these as it currently 

does in terms of IAS 17.  In addition, the standard requires the lessor to provide enhanced disclosures about its 

leasing activities and in particular about its exposure to residual value risk and how it is managed.  

IFRS 16 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.  The standard will not have a 

material impact on the Company’s results. 

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of the accounts in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and 

expenses.  These estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Although these estimates are based on management’s best 

knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results may differ from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

3.1 Effective interest rate (EIR) 

The effective interest rate method applies a rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 

relating to a financial instrument to its net carrying amount.  The estimated future cash flows take into account all 

contractual terms of the financial instrument including transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts but 

excludes future credit losses.  The EIR determines the timing of revenue recognition and is calculated at a portfolio 

level.  The EIR model calculation has been consistently applied in both the current and prior year.   

The calculation of an effective interest rate requires the Bank to make assumptions around the average expected 

lives of loan instruments. In determining these expected lives, the Bank uses historical data together with 

management judgement.  These assumptions are regularly reviewed for reasonableness, taking into account 

changes in actual experience.  If the Directors consider that a change in assumption is needed, the impact of the 

change on the carrying value of the loans would be reflected immediately in the income statement. However given 

the hire purchase agreement receivables are measured at fair value less costs to sell at current year end, this 

assumption is no longer of critical importance and usefulness of sensitivity analysis is limited.  For prior year, if the 

average lives of the hire purchase agreement receivables were to increase by one month, the carrying value of hire 

purchase agreement receivables would increase by £19k with a corresponding change in the timing of interest 

recognition.     

3.2 Credit impairments 

In determining whether an impairment should be recorded, judgements are made as to whether there is objective 

evidence that a financial asset or portfolio of financial assets is impaired as a result of loss events that occurred 

after recognition of the asset and by the reporting date.  The calculation of an impairment loss is management’s 

best estimate of losses incurred in the portfolio at the balance sheet date and reflects expected future cash flows 

based on both the likelihood of a loan being written off and the estimated loss on such a write-off.  The Bank’s 

accounting policy for loan impairment provisions on financial assets classified as loans and receivables is described 

in Note 2.5c. 

Identified incurred losses – Hire purchase agreement receivables 

The retail loan portfolios comprise large numbers of small homogenous assets with similar risk characteristics, 

where statistical techniques are used to calculate impairment allowances on a portfolio basis.  These statistical 

analyses use as primary inputs the extent to which accounts in the portfolio are in arrears and historical 
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information on the eventual losses encountered from such delinquent portfolios.  The key assumptions used in the 

impairment model are the probability of default (‘PD’), and the loss given default (‘LGD’).  Judgement is needed in 

selecting the statistical methods when the models are developed or revised.  Loans are considered impaired when 

instalments are due and unpaid.  The impairment allowance reflected in the financial statements for these 

portfolios is considered to be reasonable and supportable.  As the assets are now classified as non-current assets 

held- for-sale and measured at their recoverable amount, being fair value less cost to sell, sensitivity analysis  of a 

change in LGD or PD is of limited use. For prior year, a change of 1 percentage point in the LGD would result in a 

£28k change in the value of the impairment and a change of 1 percentage point in the PD would result in a £37k 

change in the value of the impairment. 

Losses incurred but not yet identified – Hire purchase agreement receivables 

The impairment for latent losses in a group of loans that have not yet been identified as impaired, is determined 

on a portfolio basis based on a calculated loss ratio.  The loss ratio is calculated based on historic loss patterns and 

an estimated emergence period, being the time period between the loss trigger events and the date on which the 

Company identifies the losses.  The loss ratio is applied to loan balances that are neither past due nor impaired at 

the reporting date.  At the year end, a number of factors including emergence period, recent loss history and 

probability of default were considered. However given these hire purchase agreement receivables are measured at 

fair value less costs to sell at year end, these factors are no longer of critical importance and usefulness of 

sensitivity analysis is limited.  For prior year consideration of these factors, the loss emergence period is a key 

input (2017: 3 months).  An increase of 1 month in the emergence period would result in an increase of £150k in 

the impairment charge for 2017.  A decrease of 1 month in the emergence period will result in a reduction of 

£127k in the impairment charge for prior year. 

3.3 Discontinued operations and non-current assets held for sale 

3.3.1 ATM business 

As the result of a strategic review, the Bank determined that it wishes to exit the ATM business since the ATM 

network does not form a core part of the Bank’s other customer propositions.  The Bank signed an agreement on 1 

April 2016 to sell its ATM business to a subsidiary of International Currency Exchange Limited (‘ICE’), a sister 

company of the Bank.  The sale is expected to complete during the fiscal year to February 2019.   

The ATM business represents a major business unit of which the assets are to be recovered principally through a 

sale transaction rather than continuing use.  As a result, the ATM business is classified as a disposal group in terms 

of IFRS 5, and the relevant assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale.  The segment is classified as a 

discontinued operation and its results for the year are presented in a single line item on the face of the income 

statement. 

3.3.2 Payment Services division 

After a strategic review of its options, the Bank has decided to exit from its Payment Services business in an orderly 

way. The level of regulatory and operational complexity of the business in combination with poor returns driven by 

ongoing low interest rates, uncertainties around Brexit and potential complications arising, mean that this is not a 

viable business for the Bank. The bank does not intend to dispose of this business but will wind the business down 

over the next 2 years.  Accordingly partners’ contracts are not being renewed on expiry and the Bank is working 

cooperatively with partners to migrate to another issuer either at contract expiry or earlier.   

The winding down of this business unit results in the Bank classifying this segment as a discontinued operation as 
at 28 February 2018, as required by IFRS 5, which is shown as a single item on the face of the income statement. 

3.3.3 Lending division – motor hire purchase receivables 

Subsequent to year-end, on the 6th July 2018, the Bank has completed an agreement to sell the outstanding motor 
loan receivables.  In addition, the Bank’s Board has taken a decision to cease writing new motor loans, with the 
various stakeholders including staff and brokers informed of this decision in May 2018.   
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The motor loan receivables business represents a major cash-generating unit of which the assets are highly likely 

to be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use.  As a result, the hire purchase 

receivables are classified as a disposal group in terms of IFRS 5. The segment is classified as a discontinued 

operation and its results for the year are presented in a single line item on the face of the income statement. 

3.4 Fair value measurement 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets is determined using valuation 

techniques.  Changes in these assumptions could affect the reported fair values of financial instruments.  

Visa Inc. investment 

Following the sale of Visa Europe Limited (‘Visa Europe’) to Visa Inc., the Company received an equity investment 

in the preferred shares of Visa Inc.  The shares are convertible to ordinary shares and are valued in reference to 

the ordinary share price of Visa Inc.  A fair value gain has been recognised in other comprehensive income to 

reflect the changes in the market value of Visa Inc., together with movements in foreign exchange rates.   

Details of the transaction and valuation are disclosed in Note 14.   

Unlisted equity investment 

In November 2017, the Bank exercised an option to purchase 15% of the shareholding of one of it’s lending 

partner companies.  The shares are unlisted equity and valuation is determined in a model, which incorporates 

assumptions based on unobservable inputs and are subject to management’s judgement.  The assumptions include 

forecasts of the underlying entity’s expected profitability, risk premiums and discount rate.  A fair value gain has 

been recognised in other comprehensive income to reflect the changes in the fair value of the shares since 

purchase.   

Details of the transaction and valuation are disclosed in Note 7 and Note 13.   

3.5 Provisions and Onerous contracts 

As a result of the decision to wind down the Payment Services business, the Bank has reviewed all cost contracts 
related to Payment Services division to determine whether any contracts have now become onerous. This has 
resulted in a provision in the current year for a software provision contract. See Note 24.1 for further detail.  

3.6 Taxation 

The Company is subject to direct and indirect taxation.  There may be transactions and calculations for which the 

ultimate tax determination has an element of uncertainty during the ordinary course of business.  The Company 

recognises liabilities based on estimates of the quantum of taxes that may be due.  Where the final tax 

determination is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income 

tax and deferred tax expense in the year in which such determination is made.  

4. Segmental information 

The Bank has three reportable operating segments plus Central Functions.  Each operating segment offers groups 

of similar products and services and is managed separately based on the Bank’s internal reporting structure. In the 

table below the Lending operating segment has been split into its two significant cash-generating units, to 

distinguish between continuing and discontinued operations. The following summary describes the operations in 

each of the Bank’s reportable segments: 

Continuing operations 

 Lending – Loans made to customers, including sports season tickets, medical, student support and 

unsecured personal loans.   

 Central – Central includes common support costs incurred as well as the operating costs of the Banking 

division, which is responsible for raising funding on behalf of the operating segments.  Central also 

includes the deposits raised by the Banking division and prior year has been restated to reflect this 
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change. Central represents the reconciling items between the total of the three reportable operating 

segments and the consolidated income statement.    

Discontinued operation 

 Lending – Hire purchase for motor vehicles. 

 Payment services – Prepaid card operations, together with other payment services. 

 ATM – an estate of cash machines, providing Sterling, Euro and US Dollar cash, together with settlement 

of foreign currency card withdrawals.  

Financing costs are allocated to business units based on the cost of funding.  Common support costs are incurred 

on behalf of the operating segments and typically represent administration costs, back office costs and support 

function costs such as Finance, Compliance, IT and Human Resources.  These indirect costs are not allocated to the 

operating segments in the tables that follow. All of the segments operate only in the United Kingdom. 
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Lending) Central) Total)

£’000) £’000) £’000)

Interest income - external customers 2,932 201 3,133 

Interest expense - external customers  - (2,933) (2,933)

Interest (expense)/income - internal (735) 2,682 1,947 

Net fees and other (expense)/ income  - (382) (382)

Total operating income 2,197 (432) 1,765 

Operating expenses  - (9,434) (9,434)

Credit impairment charge  -  -  - 

Write-down on transfer to held-for-sale  -  -  - 

Segmental result 2,197 (9,866) (7,669)

Income tax credit 1,468 

Loss after tax (6,201)

Other information

Depreciation and amortisation  - (188) (188)

Impairment of intangible assets and plant and 

equipment (note 26)
 -  -  - 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment       -  -  - 

Additions to non-current assets  - 80 80 

All 

Operations

Payment 

Services)

Lending 

Hire 

Purchase) ATM) Total Total

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Interest income - external customers 223 10,550 190 10,963 14,096 

Interest expense - external customers  -  -  -  - (2,933)

Interest (expense)/income - internal (78) (1,681) (188) (1,947)  - 

Net fees and other (expense) / income 3,429 (74) 7,122 10,477 10,095 

Total operating income 3,574 8,795 7,124 19,493 21,258 

Operating expenses (2,934) (3,635) (5,347) (11,916) (21,350)

Credit impairment charge  - (2,747)  - (2,747) (2,747)

Write-down on transfer to held-for-sale  - (2,641)  - (2,641) (2,641)

Segmental result 640 (228) 1,777 2,189 (5,480)

Income tax (charge)/credit (437) 1,031 

Profit / (Loss) after tax 1,752 (4,449)

Other information

Depreciation and amortisation (153) (36)  - (189) (377)

Impairment of intangible assets and plant and 

equipment (note 26)
 -  - (713) (713) (713)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment       - (1)  - (1) (1)

Additions to non-current assets  - 27 812 839 919 

Continuing operations

Segmental results for the year ended 

28 February 2018

Segmental results for the year ended 

28 February 2018

Discontinued operations 1

 
1 Following a strategic review, in the current year, Payment Services and Lending motor hire purchase receivables have been classified as 

discontinued operations. The 2017 segmental table has been amended to reflect the change in status. 
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Lending) Central) Total)

£’000) £’000) £’000)

Interest income - external customers 2,610 200 2,810 

Interest expense - external customers  - (3,049) (3,049)

Interest (expense)/income - internal (637) 2,421 1,784 

Net fees and other income  - 25,189 25,189 

Total operating income 1,973 24,761 26,734 

Operating expenses  - (7,540) (7,540)

Credit impairment charge  -  -  - 

Impairment on transfer to held-for-sale  -  -  - 

Segmental result 1,973 17,221 19,194 

Income tax charge (3,755)

Profit after tax 15,439 

Other information

Depreciation and amortisation  - (215) (215)

Impairment of intangible assets and plant and 

equipment (note 26)
 -  -  - 

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment       -  -  - 

Additions to non-current assets 48 110 158 

All 

Operations

Payment 

Services)

Lending 

Hire 

Purchase) ATM) Total Total

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Interest income - external customers 153 10,733 194 11,080 13,890 

Interest expense - external customers  -  -  -  - (3,049)

Interest (expense)/income - internal (47) (1,454) (283) (1,784)  - 

Net fees and other (expense)/ income 3,892 (924) 8,131 11,099 36,288 

Total operating income 3,998 8,355 8,042 20,395 47,129 

Operating expenses (2,328) (2,887) (5,172) (10,387) (17,927)

Credit impairment charge  - (1,763)  - (1,763) (1,763)

Impairment on transfer to held-for-sale  -  -  -  -  - 

Segmental result 1,670 3,705 2,870 8,245 27,439 

Income tax charge (1,649) (5,404)

Profit after tax 6,596 22,035 

Other information

Depreciation and amortisation (155) (61)  - (216) (431)

Impairment of intangible assets and plant and 

equipment (note 26)
 -  - (995) (995) (995)

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment       -  - 5 5 5 

Additions to non-current assets  -  - 172 172 330 

Continuing operations

Segmental results for the year ended 

28 February 2017

Discontinued operations 1

Segmental results for the year ended 

28 February 2017

 
1 Following a strategic review, in the current year, Payment Services and Lending motor hire purchase receivables have been classified as 

discontinued operations. The 2017 segmental table has been amended to reflect the change in status. 



R. Raphael & Sons plc 
Annual report and financial statements 

For the year ended 28 February 2018 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

 

37 

Document Classification - [Category] 

 

Lending) Central) Total)
£’000) £’000) £’000)

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks  - 49,200 49,200 

Available for sale investments  - 11,396 11,396 

Loans and advances 37,168 11,358 48,526 

Tax, prepayments and other debtors 82 3,095 3,177 

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 791 246 1,037 

Assets classified as held for sale  -  -  - 

Total assets 38,041 75,295 113,336 

Liabilities

Customer accounts  - 160,815 160,815 

Tax and other l iabilities 1,095 6,193 7,288 

Derivative liabilities  - 16 16 

Liabilities classified as held for sale  -  -  - 

Total liabilities 1,095 167,024 168,119 

All 

Operations

Payment 

Services)

Lending 

Hire 

Purchase) ATM) Total Total
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 7,720  -  - 7,720 56,920 

Available for sale investments 44,946  -  - 44,946 56,342 

Loans and advances 136,693  -  - 136,693 185,219 

Tax, prepayments and other debtors 1,117  -  - 1,117 4,294 

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 250  -  - 250 1,287 

Assets classified as held for sale  - 91,094 7,273 98,367 98,367 

Total assets 190,726 91,094 7,273 289,093 402,429 

Liabilities

Customer accounts 171,523  -  - 171,523 332,338 

Tax and other l iabilities 16,939  -  - 16,939 24,227 

Derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 16 

Liabilities classified as held for sale  - 46 1,001 1,047 1,047 

Total liabilities 188,462 46 1,001 189,509 357,628 

Continuing operations

Segmental balance sheet at 28 February 2018

Discontinued operations 1

Segmental balance sheet at 28 February 2018

 
1 Following a strategic review, in the current year, Payment Services and Lending motor hire purchase receivables have been classified as 

discontinued operations. The 2017 segmental table has been amended to reflect the change in status. 
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Lending)

Payment)

Services) Central) Total)

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks  - 10,261 47,306 57,567 

Available for sale investments and derivative assets  - 59,010 9,405 68,415 

Loans and advances 120,351 168,510 5,832 294,693 

Prepayments and other debtors 86 2,416 1,848 4,350 

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 801 403 352 1,556 

Assets classified as held for sale  -  -  -  - 

Total assets 121,238 240,600 64,743 426,581 

Liabilities

Customer accounts  - 193,519 144,797 338,316 

Tax and other l iabilities 793 42,358 6,572 49,723 

Liabilities classified as held for sale  -  -  -  - 

Total liabilities 793 235,877 151,369 388,039 

All 

Operations

ATM) Total Total

£’000) £’000) £’000)

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks  -  - 57,567 

Available for sale investments and derivative assets  -  - 68,415 

Loans and advances  -  - 294,693 

Prepayments and other debtors  -  - 4,350 

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  -  - 1,556 

Assets classified as held for sale 9,671 9,671 9,671 

Total assets 9,671 9,671 436,252 

Liabilities

Customer accounts  -  - 338,316 

Tax and other l iabilities  -  - 49,723 

Liabilities classified as held for sale 638 638 638 

Total liabilities 638 638 388,677 

Segmental balance sheet at 28 February 2017

Segmental balance sheet at 28 February 2017

Discontinued operations

Continuing operations
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5. Net interest income 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Interest on hire purchase agreement receivables  -  - 

Interest on loans and advances to customers 2,932 2,610 

Interest on debt securities and loans and advances to banks 201 200 

Interest income 3,133 2,810 

Interest expense on customer deposits (986) (1,265)

Net interest income 2,147 1,545  

Total interest expense on customer deposits is £2,933k (2017: £3,049k) however expense shown is net of £1,9474k 

(2017: £1,784k) allocated to discontinued operations.  

6. Net fee and commission income 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Management fees  - 1 

Other fee income  - 9 

Fee and commission income  - 10 

Fee and commission expense (296) (210)

Net fee and commission income (296) (200)  

7. Other (expense)/income 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Dividend income 108 54 

Fair value (losses)/gains on derivative instruments1,2,3 (288) 468 

Foreign exchange gains 94 147 

Other income (86) 669 
 

1In February 2014, the Bank entered into a contractual arrangement with an unlisted lending partner company that granted the Bank an option 
to subscribe for a 15% shareholding in the partner company.  The option was exercised in November 2017.  The option was valued at £248k 
when exercised (2017: £520k) and £272k fair value loss was recognised in the income statement in the current year prior to exercising (2017: 
£435k gain).  

2In June 2017, the Bank entered into a FX swap agreement  to cover the FX exposure associated with the Visa deferred cash receivable which is 
denominated in Euros (see Note 14). A £16k fair value loss was recognised in the income statement in the current year. 
 

3In June 2016 the Bank entered into a foreign exchange option contract as protection against significant fluctuations in the GBP/EUR exchange 
rate.  The option contract provided a hedge against the cash proceeds from the disposal of the Visa Europe Limited shareholding as described in 
Note 14.  The option contract was closed on receipt of the cash proceeds in June 2016 and the Bank recognised a gain of £33k in 2017.   
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8. Operating expenses 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Amortisation of intangible assets        (102) (102)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment       (86) (113)

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment       -  - 

Fees payable to the Company's auditor1 (256) (148)

For the audit of the Company's financial statements (109) (98)

Taxation compliance services  - (29)

Taxation advisory services  - (3)

Other assurance services (147) (18)

Internal audit (209) (197)

Consultancy, legal and professional fees (2,486) (1,166)

Contractor Costs (1,078) (721)

Legal fees (477) (71)

Professional fees and other service costs (931) (374)

Operating leases - land and buildings (46) (46)

Other administrative expenses (2,414) (2,051)

Staff costs                (3,835) (3,717)

Total operating expenses (9,434) (7,540)  
1 2017 fees were paid to KPMG LLP and 2018 fees were paid to Mazars LLP. Amounts are VAT exclusive. 

9. Staff costs 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Salaries and allowances (3,346) (3,251)

Social security costs (376) (363)

Pension costs (113) (103)

Total staff costs (3,835) (3,717)  

The average number of persons employed by the Bank during the year, including Non-executive Directors, was as 

follows: 

2018) 2017)

Central 54 54 

Banking 8 8 

Management and administration 46 46 

Total continued operations 54 54 

Payment services 27 28 

Lending 50 42 

ATM 11 11 

Total discontinued operations 88 81 

Total number 142 135   
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9.1 Remuneration of Directors 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Directors’ emoluments (944) (1,058)

Directors’ fees (194) (140)

Pension costs1 (42) (41)

Other benefits (17) (20)

Total (1,197) (1,259)
 

1In relation to 4 Directors (2017: 5). 

The emoluments of the highest paid Director amounted to £278k (2017: £325k), which includes pension 

contributions of £12k (2017: £10k).  Three of the Directors of the Company in 2017 received £70k from the parent 

company’s medium term incentive scheme.  No such payments were made in 2018. 

10. Taxation 

10.1 Income tax charge 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Current tax 

Current year - UK corporation tax 969 (4,094)

Adjustment in respect of prior years 31 (80)

Foreign tax suffered (31) (15)

Total current tax 969 (4,189)

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary difference 66 (1,390)

Adjustment in respect of prior years 8 (33)

Impact of change in tax rate (12) 208 

Total deferred tax 62 (1,215)

Total tax credit/(charge) included in the income statement 1,031 (5,404)

Consists of:

Continuing operations 1,468 (3,755)

Discontinued operations (437) (1,649)
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10.2 Tax rate reconciliation 

The tax charge for the year differs from that calculated using the UK standard rate of corporation tax.  The 

differences are explained below: 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Profit/(loss) before tax:

Continuing operations (7,669) 19,194 

Discontinued operations 2,189 8,245 

(5,480) 27,439 

Tax credit/(charge) at the standard rate of 19.08% (2017: 20.00%) 1,046 (5,488)

Effects of:

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous periods 39 (113)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (75) (7)

Impact of change in tax rate (12) 208 

Income not taxable for tax purposes 21 11 

Benefit of losses carried back 43  - 

Effects of overseas tax rates (31) (15)

Tax credit/(charge) included in the income statement 1,031 (5,404)

Tax charge included in other comprehensive income1 (342) 3,952 

Total tax credit/(charge) for the year 689 (1,452)
1Tax charge on available for sale investments. 

Reductions in the UK corporation tax rate from 20% to 19% (effective from 1 April 2017) and 17% (effective from 1 

April 2020) were substantively enacted on 26 October 2015 and 6 September 2016.  The deferred tax liability at 28 

February 2018 has been calculated based on these rates.  
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10.3 Deferred tax 

Analysis of recognised deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 

Balance)

at start)

of year)

Recognised)

in income)

statement)

Recognised in)

other)

comprehensive)

income)

Balance)

at end)

of year)

Year ended 28 February 2018 £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Capital allowances 66 32  - 98 

Available for sale investments (1,492)  - (342) (1,834)

Other temporary differences (76) 30  - (46)

Deferred tax (liability)/asset (1,502) 62 (342) (1,782)  

 

Balance)

at start)

of year)

Recognised)

in income)

statement)

Recognised in)

other)

comprehensive)

income)

Balance)

at end)

of year)

Year ended 28 February 2017 £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Capital allowances 56 10  - 66 

Available for sale investments (4,281) (1,163) 3,952 (1,492)

Other temporary differences (14) (62)  - (76)

Deferred tax (liability)/asset (4,239) (1,215) 3,952 (1,502)
 

There were no unrecognised deferred tax balances at 28 February 2018 (2017: £nil). 

11. Cash and balances with central banks  

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Cash  - 1 

Placements with Bank of England 56,920 57,566 

Cash and balances with central banks 56,920 57,567  

12. Loans and advances to banks 

2018) 2017)

Maturity analysis £’000) £’000)

On demand 148,723 173,299 

Three months or less 2,692 2,689 

Total loans and advances to banks 151,415 175,988 
 

Included within amounts receivable on demand are amounts of £135,013k (2017: £162,643k) which are held in 

designated accounts with banks under card programmes.  These together with short term investments of £44,945k 

(2017: £59,010k) and placements with Bank of England of £7,720k (2017: £10,261k) are used to cover liabilities 

under these programmes.  The associated cardholder liabilities are disclosed in Note 23.  

There were no individual or collective impairments against loans and advances to banks.  Additional disclosure is 

provided in the risk management section in Note 33.2.1.  
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13. Available for sale investments 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

UK government debt securities 10,579 14,895 

Foreign government debt securities 32,685 32,320 

Supranational debt securities 1,681 11,795 

Total debt securities 44,945 59,010 

Equity investments 11,397 8,885 

Total available for sale investments 56,342 67,895 
 

 

Equity investments include an investment in Visa Inc., which resulted from the sale of Visa Europe Limited (‘Visa 

Europe’) to Visa Inc. (Details of the investment in Visa Inc. is presented in Note 14).  

Equity investments also include a 15% shareholding in a lending partner company purchased via the exercising of 

an option in November 2017. (see Note 7 for further details). Consideration of £275k was paid as the agreed 

option exercise price and the shareholding was valued at £522k on exercise. This shareholding is valued at £580k 

at 28 February 2018 with a gain of £59k recognised through OCI since exercise. 

At 28 February 2018, all of the debt securities were due to mature within 12 months of the reporting date (refer 

Note 33.3).  Additional disclosure is presented in financial risk section in Note 33.2.1. 

14. Investment in Visa Inc. 

Following the sale of Visa Europe to Visa Inc. in June 2016, the Bank realised its investment in Visa Europe, and 

recycled a fair value gain of £24,720k from the available for sale reserve to the income statement. The proceeds 

from the sale consisted of an initial cash payment (€21,630k; £16,618k), a deferred cash receivable at June 2016 

(€1,734k; £1,332k) and preferred shares in Visa Inc. (US$10,040k; £6,843k).  

The investment in the preferred shares is measured at fair value and a gain has been recognised in other 

comprehensive income (‘OCI’) to reflect the changes in the market value of Visa Inc., together with movements in 

foreign exchange rates.  In the current year the Bank entered into a fx swap mitigate the fx risk on the deferred 

cash receivable. (See Note 17). The transaction had the following impact on the Bank’s results: 
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Available) 

for sale)

investments)

Euro 

Sterling 

FX 

Forward

Prepayments) 

and other) 

debtors)

Total)

asset)

value)

Available)

for sale)

reserve)

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Carrying value at 1 March 2017 8,848  - 1,523 10,371 2,005 

Fair value gain recognised in OCI  -  -  -  -  - 

8,848  - 1,523 10,371 2,005 

Subsequent gains on proceeds

Fair value gain recognised in OCI 1,931  -  - 1,931 1,931 

Interest income and foreign exchange 

gains recognised in the income 

statement

 - (16) 120 104  - 

Carrying value at 28 February 2018 10,779 (16) 1,643 12,406 3,936  

 

Available) 

for sale)

investments) Cash)

Prepayments) 

and other) 

debtors)

Total)

asset)

value)

Available)

for sale)

reserve)

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Carrying value at 1 March 2016 22,147  -  - 22,147 22,074 

Fair value gain recognised in OCI 2,646  -  - 2,646 2,646 

24,793  -  - 24,793 24,720 

Realised investment in Visa Europe  -  -  -  -  - 

Derecognise investment and recycle fair 

value gains to the income statement
(24,793)  -  - (24,793) (24,720)

Proceeds on disposal of Visa Europe 6,843 16,618 1,332 24,793  - 

Subsequent gains on proceeds

Fair value gain recognised in OCI 2,005  -  - 2,005 2,005 

Interest income and foreign exchange 

gains recognised in the income 

statement

 -  - 191 191  - 

Carrying value at 28 February 2017 8,848 16,618 1,523 26,989 2,005  

 

Unobservable input in the valuation of the preferred shares at 28 February 2018 

The preferred shares are convertible to Visa Inc. common shares subject to satisfaction of certain conditions and 

the final amount is subject to a significant litigation contingency.  Given the uncertainty surrounding the level of 

liability for any litigation, and a total period of 12 years before any common shares are received, the Bank has 

assigned a fair value that represents 60% of the total current value of the shares identified by Visa Inc. (2017: 60% 

of the total current value of the shares identified by Visa Inc.). 
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15. Loans and advances to customers 

2018) 2017)

Maturity analysis £’000) £’000)

Three months or less 6,618 7,141 

Between three months and one year 9,460 9,175 

Between one and five years 13,542 13,033 

In more than five years 4,184 3,661 

Total loans and advances to customers 33,804 33,010  

Loans and advances to customers are introduced to the Bank and administered on its behalf by third party firms.  

The Bank has arrangements whereby each third party will buy back outstanding balances on loans where the 

accounts have fallen into arrears.  Given the risk mitigation and historical recovery rates, no impairment is 

recognised against these loan portfolios.  Additional disclosure is provided in Note 33.2.2, financial risk 

management. 

16. Hire purchase agreement receivables 

16.1 Hire purchase agreement receivables 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Gross receivables  - 107,596 

Less: Deferred revenue  - (19,171)

Net amounts receivable before credit impairments  - 88,425 

Less: Credit impairments  - (2,730)

Net amounts receivable under hire purchase agreements  - 85,695 

Amounts receivable under hire purchase agreements are repayable as follows:

Three months or less  - 5,005 

Between three months and one year  - 20,032 

Between one and five years  - 63,388 

In more than five years  -  - 

  - 88,425  
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16.2 Allowance for impairment losses 

Losses incurred)

but not yet)

identified)

Identified) 

incurred)

losses) Total)

28 February 2018 £’000) £’000) £’000)

Balance at beginning of the year (374) (2,356) (2,730)

Net income statement charge (Discontinued operations) (20) (2,727) (2,747)

Amounts written off  - 1,018 1,018 

  Voluntary teminations  - 294 294 

  Impaired loans  - 724 724 

 - (394) (4,065) (4,459)

Transferred to held for sale 394 4,065 4,459 

Balance at end of the year  -  -  -  

Losses incurred)

but not yet)

identified)

Identified) 

incurred)

losses) Total)

28 February 2017 £’000) £’000) £’000)

Balance at beginning of the year (216) (1,241) (1,457)

Net income statement charge (Discontinued operations) (158) (1,605) (1,763)

Amounts written off  - 490 490 

  Voluntary teminations  - 135 135 

  Impaired loans  - 355 355 

Balance at end of the year (374) (2,356) (2,730)  
 
Included in amounts written off is £294k (2017: £135k) related to vehicles returned under voluntary terminations 
in line with the half rule provisions of the Consumer Credit Act. While these are not credit losses they are 
presented in the above impairment line. 
 

17. Derivative instruments 

Derivative liability 
In June 2017, the Bank entered into a FX swap agreement to cover the FX exposure associated with the Visa 
deferred cash receivable which is denominated in Euros (see Note 14). A £16k fair value loss was recognised in the 
income statement in the current year. 

Derivative asset 
In February 2014, the Bank entered into a contractual arrangement with an unlisted lending partner company that 
granted the Bank an option to subscribe for a 15% shareholding in the partner company.  The option was exercised 
in November 2017.  The option was valued at £248k (2017: £520k) when exercised and £272k fair value loss was 
recognised in the income statement in the current year prior to exercising (2017: £435k gain).  
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18. Prepayments and other debtors  

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Prepayments and other debtors 310 425 

Deferred consideration (Note 14) 1,643 1,523 

Payment Services - trade debtors 1,117 2,402 

Total prepayments and other debtors 3,070 4,350 
 

19. Investment in subsidiary 

Shares in the subsidiary undertaking at the end of the year amounted to £1 (2017: £1).  The subsidiary undertaking 

and its activities are set out below: 

 

Name Principal Activity Shareholding 

Southern Finance Company Limited     Non-Trading 100% 

The subsidiary is wholly owned by the Bank, is incorporated within the United Kingdom and the investment is in 

ordinary shares. 

20. Property, plant and equipment 

Freehold)

property)

Fixtures,)

fittings &) 

equipment)

Computer) 

hardware)

Motor)

vehicles) Total)

Cost £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Opening balance at 1 March 2017 725 141 601 68 1,535 

Additions  - 6 53  - 59 

Disposals  -  - (127) (15) (142)

Closing balance at 28 February 2018 725 147 527 53 1,452 

Accumulated depreciation

Opening balance at 1 March 2017  - (100) (447) (46) (593)

Depreciation charge  - (12) (101) (7) (120)

Disposals  -  - 127 15 142 

Closing balance at 28 February 2018  - (112) (421) (38) (571)

Net book value 725 35 106 15 881  



R. Raphael & Sons plc 
Annual report and financial statements 

For the year ended 28 February 2018 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

 

49 

Document Classification - [Category] 

Freehold)

property)

Fixtures,)

fittings &) 

equipment)

Computer) 

hardware)

Motor)

vehicles) Total)

Cost £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Opening balance at 1 March 2016 725 104 635 68 1,532 

Additions  - 37 85  - 122 

Disposals  -  - (119)  - (119)

Closing balance at 28 February 2017 725 141 601 68 1,535 

Accumulated depreciation

Opening balance at 1 March 2016  - (86) (415) (34) (535)

Depreciation charge  - (14) (151) (12) (177)

Disposals  -  - 119  - 119 

Closing balance at 28 February 2017  - (100) (447) (46) (593)

Net book value 725 41 154 22 942 
  

The freehold property was revalued on 30 September 2015, on an open market value for existing use basis, by an 

independent surveyor.  If the assets were carried under the cost model, it would have had a carrying value of 

£685k at 28 February 2018 (2017: £685k).   

 

21. Intangible assets 

2018) 2017)

Computer software £’000) £’000)

Cost at beginning of the year 1,091 1,055 

Additions 48 36 

Cost at end of the year 1,139 1,091 

Amortisation at beginning of the year (477) (223)

Amortisation charge (256) (254)

Amortisation at end of the year (733) (477)

Net carrying value at end of the year 406 614 
 

Capitalised computer software represents computer software which is of a strategic nature with an expected 

useful life of 3-5 years.  The carrying value represents external costs with no internal development costs 

capitalised.  The assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful life. 

22. Customer deposits 

2018) 2017)

Amounts repayable: £’000) £’000)

On demand 556 822 

Three months or less 48,941 33,653 

Between three months and one year 55,516 38,837 

Between one year and five years 55,802 71,485 

Total customer deposits 160,815 144,797  
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23. Other customer accounts 

2018) 2017)

Amounts denominated in: £’000) £’000)

Sterling 30,562 47,413 

Euro 89,422 93,208 

US Dollar 34,522 34,396 

Other 17,017 18,502 

Total other customer accounts 171,523 193,519 
 

Other customer accounts represent cardholder liabilities in respect of preapid cards issued by the Bank.  These are 

not protected deposits under the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (‘FSCS’), but balances are held in 

designated accounts or securities to cover these liabilities and are disclosed separately in Notes 12 and 13.   

24. Other liabilities 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Accrued expenses 1,423 492 

Trade creditors - ATM 1,493 2,348 

Trade creditors - Payment Services 16,643 42,276 

Provisions 145 83 

Other creditors 2,741 1,971 

Total other liabilities 22,445 47,170  

Trade creditors – Payment Services includes amounts owed to VISA and MasterCard for net settlement of 

cardholder spend and prefunding of card schemes by the card programme managers. 

Trade creditors – ATM represents amounts owed to the ATM estate managers for cash settlements and other 

services performed under contractual agreements.   

The settlement of these liabilities is excluded from the transaction described in Note 25 and consequently does not 

form part of the liabilities held for sale as disclosed in the balance sheet.  

 

 

 

 

 

24.1 Provisions 

2018) 2017)

Provisions £’000) £’000)

Balance at beginning of the year 83 75 

Provisions utilised (38) (24)

Provisions made during the year 130 41 

Provisions released (30) (9)

Total provisions 145 83  



R. Raphael & Sons plc 
Annual report and financial statements 

For the year ended 28 February 2018 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

 

51 

Document Classification - [Category] 

In common with all regulated UK deposit takers, the Bank pays levies to the FSCS to enable the FSCS to meet its 

claims.  The FSCS levy consists of two parts: a management expenses levy and a compensation levy, which includes 

capital and interest levies.  The management expenses levy covers the costs of running the scheme and the 

compensation levy covers the amount of compensation the scheme pays, net of any recoveries it makes using the 

rights that have been assigned to it.   

The FSCS provision at 28 February 2018 of £52k (2017: £83k) represents interest levies for the scheme years 

2017/2018 and 2018/2019.  The capital levy is paid in the same financial year in which it is levied. 

An onerous lease provision, £92k (2017: nil) has been recognised in relation to a software contract entered into by 

the Payment Services division for software which has become obsolete on the ending of Faster Payment services 

provision. 

25. Discontinued operation 

25.1  ATM Business 

As the result of a strategic review, the Bank has determined that it wishes to exit the ATM business. The business is 

highly dependent on contracts with the Lenlyn Group for profitability, and the ATM network does not form a core 

part of the Bank’s other customer propositions.  Conversely, ATMs are a key part of the business of the Bank’s 

sister company, International Currency Exchange Limited (‘ICE’) and accordingly the Bank signed an agreement on 

1 April 2016 to sell its ATM business to a subsidiary of ICE, which was expected to complete within 2017, but due 

to unforeseen delays is now expected to complete during the fiscal year to February 2019. The transaction will be 

cash settled and the Bank does not anticipate making a material profit or loss on this arrangement. 

The intended disposal resulted in the Bank classifying this segment as a discontinued operation as at 29 February 

2016, as required by IFRS 5, which is shown as a single amount on the face of the income statement.  The 

operating result of the discontinued operation is disclosed in Note 4. 

The ATM discontinued business unit contributed £1,821k (2017: £2,403k used) of the Bank’s net operating cash 

flows, £235k (2017:£735) was used in the bank’s financing activities and £812k (2017: £158k) was used in the 

Bank’s investing activities. 

25.2  Payment Services Business 

After a strategic review of its options, the Bank has decided to exit from its Payment Services business in an orderly 

way. The level of regulatory and operational complexity of the business in combination with poor returns driven by 

ongoing low interest rates, uncertainties around Brexit and potential complications arising, mean that this is not a 

viable business for the Bank. The process of how the bank will exit from these contracts has now been finalised.  

The bank does not intend to dispose of this business but will wind the business down over the next 2 years.  

Accordingly partners’ contracts are not being renewed on expiry and the Bank is working cooperatively with 

partners to migrate to another issuer either at contract expiry or earlier.   

The winding down of this business unit results in the Bank classifying this segment as a discontinued operation as 
at 28 February 2018, as required by IFRS 5, which is shown as a single item on the face of the income statement.  
The operating result of the discontinued operation is disclosed in Note 4.  

The Payment Services discontinued business unit contributed £402k (2017: £9,763k) of the Bank’s net operating 

cash flows and £44,516k (2017: £8,300k contributed) was used in the Bank’s financing activities. 

25.3  Lending division – motor hire purchase receivables 

Subsequent to year-end, on the 6th July 2018, the Bank has completed an agreement to sell the outstanding motor 

loan receivables.  In addition, the Bank’s Board has taken a decision to cease writing new motor loans, with the 

various stakeholders including staff and brokers informed of this decision in May 2018.   
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The motor loan receivables business represents a major cash-generating unit of which the assets are highly likely 

to be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use.   

The intended disposal resulted in the Bank classifying this segment as a discontinued operation as at 28 February 

2018, as required by IFRS 5, which is shown as a single amount on the face of the income statement.  The 

operating result of the discontinued operation is disclosed in Note 4. 

The Lending discontinued business unit contributed £1,745k (2017: £849k) of the Bank’s net operating cash flows 

£10,562K (2017: £31,893k) was used in the Bank’s financing activities and £27k (2017: £48k) was used in the 

Bank’s investing activities. 

26. Assets classified as held for sale and associated liabilities 

2018) 2017)

Total held for sale £’000) £’000)

Assets classified as held for sale

Cash and balances with central banks 3,176 2,150 

Available for sale investments 118 118 

Hire purchase agreement receivables 91,094  - 

Prepayments and other debtors 2,647 6,169 

Property, plant and equipment 759 1,016 

Intangible assets 573 218 

Total assets classified as held for sale 98,367 9,671 

Liabilities classified as held for sale

Other liabilities 1,047 638 

Total liabilities classified as held for sale 1,047 638  

 

26.1  ATM Business 

As described in Note 25, the assets within the ATM business are to be recovered principally through a sale 

transaction rather than continuing use.  As a result, the ATM business is classified as a disposal group and the 

relevant assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale at 29 February 2016.  The transaction is expected to 

conclude in financial period ending February 2019.  

Impairment losses 

In line with the requirements of IFRS 5, no depreciation charges were incurred on intangible assets or equipment 

held within the disposal group.  However, the assets will be transferred at a depreciated net book value and as a 

result the Bank recognised a £713k (2017: £995k) impairment loss on the disposal group.  The impairment loss 

represents the depreciation and amortisation expenses that would have been recognised if the business unit was 

not classified as held for sale.  
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2018) 2017)

ATM business £’000) £’000)

Assets classified as held for sale

Cash and balances with central banks 3,176 2,150 

Available for sale investments 118 118 

Prepayments and other debtors 2,647 6,169 

Property, plant and equipment 759 1,016 

Intangible assets 573 218 

Total assets classified as held for sale 7,273 9,671 

Liabilities classified as held for sale

Other liabilities 1,001 638 

Total liabilities classified as held for sale 1,001 638  

 

26.2  Lending division – motor hire purchase receivables 

As described in Note 25, the motor hire purchase receivables are to be recovered principally through a sale 

transaction rather than continuing use.  As a result, the motor hire purchase receivables assets are classified as a 

disposal group and the relevant assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale at 28 February 2018.  The 

transaction is expected to conclude in financial period ending February 2019.  

Impairment losses 

In line with the requirements of IFRS 5, motor hire purchase receivables have been measured at the lower of 

carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. The fair value less costs to sell is based on the indicative purchase 

price included in the initial offer from the interested purchaser.   Valuing these assets on this basis at 28 February 

2018 has results in a further write down on classification as held for sale of £2.6m. 

 

2018) 2017)

Hire purchase lending business £’000) £’000)

Assets classified as held for sale

Hire purchase agreement receivables 91,094  - 

Total assets classified as held for sale 91,094  - 

Liabilities classified as held for sale

Other liabilities 46  - 

Total liabilities classified as held for sale 46  -  

 

2018) 2017)

Hire purchase agreement receivables £’000) £’000)

Gross receivables 118,257  - 

Less: Deferred revenue (20,064)  - 

Net amounts receivable before impairments 98,193  - 

Less: Credit impairments (4,458)  - 

Less: Further impairment on measurement as held-for sale (2,641)  - 

Net amounts receivable under hire purchase agreements 91,094  -  
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27. Financial instruments 

27.1 Classification of financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are measured on an on-going basis either at fair value or amortised cost.  The 

following tables summarise the classification of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities on measurement basis: 

Loans and)

receivables1

Available)

for sale2

Fair value)

through)

profit or)

loss2

Liabilities at)

amortised)

cost1

Carrying)

value)

At 28 February 2018 £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Cash and balances with central banks 56,920  -  -  - 56,920 

Loans and advances to banks 151,415  -  -  - 151,415 

Available for sale investments  - 56,342  -  - 56,342 

Loans and advances to customers 33,804  -  -  - 33,804 

Hire purchase agreement receivables  -  -  -  -  - 

Other assets 1,643  -  -  - 1,643 

Assets classified as held for sale 94,270 118  -  - 94,388 

Total financial assets 338,052 56,460  -  - 394,512 

Non-financial assets3 7,917 

Total assets 402,429 

Customer deposits  -  -  - 160,815 160,815 

Derivative Liabilities  -  - 16  - 16 

Other customer accounts  -  -  - 171,523 171,523 

Total financial liabilities  -  - 16 332,338 332,354 

Non-financial liabilities 25,274 

Total liabilities 357,628 
 

1Instruments measured at amortised cost. 
2Instruments measured at fair value. 
3Includes non-financial assets classified as held for sale. 
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Loans and)

receivables1

Available)

for sale2

Fair value)

through)

profit or)

loss2

Liabilities at)

amortised)

cost1

Carrying)

value)

At 28 February 2017 £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Cash and balances with central banks 57,567  -  -  - 57,567 

Loans and advances to banks 175,988  -  -  - 175,988 

Available for sale investments  - 67,895  -  - 67,895 

Loans and advances to customers 33,010  -  -  - 33,010 

Hire purchase agreement receivables 85,695  -  -  - 85,695 

Derivative assets  -  - 520  - 520 

Other assets 1,523  -  -  - 1,523 

Assets classified as held for sale 2,150 118  -  - 2,268 

Total financial assets 355,933 68,013 520  - 424,466 

Non-financial assets3 11,786 

Total assets 436,252 

Customer deposits  -  -  - 144,797 144,797 

Other customer accounts  -  -  - 193,519 193,519 

Total financial liabilities  -  -  - 338,316 338,316 

Non-financial liabilities 50,361 

Total liabilities 388,677 
 

1Instruments measured at amortised cost. 
2Instruments measured at fair value. 
3Includes non-financial assets classified as held for sale. 

27.2 Financial instruments carried at fair value 

The Bank holds certain financial instruments at fair value and the tables that follow analyse financial instruments 

according to the source of input when deriving fair value. 

Level 1:  Fair value is determined using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities. 

Level 2:  Fair value is determined using directly or indirectly observable inputs other than unadjusted quoted 

prices included within level 1. 

Level 3:  Fair value is determined using valuation techniques which incorporate assumptions based on 

unobservable inputs and are subject to management’s judgement.  Although the Bank believes that its 

estimates of fair values are appropriate, changing one or more of these assumptions to reasonably 

possible alternative values could impact the fair value of the financial instruments. 

Key considerations in the calculation of the fair values include the following: 

Debt securities 

Valuation is based on securities which are actively traded in recognised markets, with quoted prices readily 

available.   

Equity and other investments 

Equity and other investments consists of an equity interest in the preferred shares in Visa Inc., which has been 

valued in reference to the ordinary share price of Visa Inc.( Additional details on the investment and valuation are 

presented in Note 14.) Equity investments also include a 15% shareholding in an unlisted lending partner company 
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purchased via the exercising of an option in November 2017.  The value of the shares are determined in a model, 

which incorporate assumptions based on unobservable inputs and are subject to management’s judgement.  The 

assumptions include forecasts of the underlying entity’s expected profitability, risk premiums and discount rate.  A 

change of 1 percentage point in the discount rate would result in a £2k (2017:£0k) change in the value of the 

shares.   

Derivative instruments 

Derivative liabilities in the current year are a fx swap with valuation based on quoted readily available fx rates. 

Derivative assets in the prior year consisted of an equity option as disclosed in Note 17, which was exercised in 

November 2017.  The value of the option was determined in a model, which incorporated assumptions based on 

unobservable inputs and are subject to management’s judgement.  The assumptions included forecasts of the 

underlying entity’s expected profitability, risk premiums and discount rate.  A change of 1 percentage point in the 

discount rate would result in a £0k (2017: £11k) change in the value of the option as following exercise of the 

option the Bank now holds a direct 15% shareholding in the partner company.    

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

At 28 February 2018 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Available for sale securities 44,945 10,779 618 56,342

Government securities 44,945  -  - 44,945

Equity and other investments  - 10,779 618 11,397

Assets classified as held for sale  -  - 118 118

Financial assets carried at fair value 44,945 10,779 736 56,460

Derivative liabilities 16  -  - 16

Financial Liabilities carried at fair value 16  -  - 16

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

At 28 February 2017 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Available for sale securities 59,010 8,848 37 67,895

Government securities 59,010  -  - 59,010

Equity and other investments  - 8,848 37 8,885

Derivative assets  -  - 520 520

Assets classified as held for sale  -  - 118 118

Financial assets carried at fair value 59,010 8,848 675 68,533
 

There were no significant transfers between level 1 and level 2 in the current year.  
 

27.3 Reconciliation of level 3 financial instruments 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Balance at beginning of the year 675 22,387 

Gains included in profit or loss (273) 435 

Gains included in OCI 59 2,646 

Purchase of investment (Note 13) 275  - 

Disposal of investment (Note 14)  - (24,793)

Balance at end of the year 736 675  
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27.4 Fair values of financial instruments carried at amortised cost 

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not 
carried at fair value: 

Carrying)

value)

Fair)

value) Level 1) Level 2) Level 3)

At 28 February 2018 £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Cash and balances with central banks 56,920 56,920 56,920  -  - 

Loans and advances to banks 151,415 151,415  - 151,415  - 

Loans and advances to customers                                                                       33,804 33,804  -  - 33,804 

Hire purchase agreement receivables  -  -  -  -  - 

Other assets 1,643 1,643  - 1,643  - 

Assets classified as held for sale 94,270 94,270 3,176 91,094  - 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost 338,052 338,052 60,096 244,152 33,804 

Customer deposits 160,815 161,000  - 161,000  - 

Other customer accounts 171,523 171,523  - 171,523  - 

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 332,338 332,523  - 332,523  - 
 

 

Carrying)

value)

Fair)

value) Level 1) Level 2) Level 3)

At 28 February 2017 £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Cash and balances with central banks 57,567 57,567 57,567  -  - 

Loans and advances to banks 175,988 175,988  - 175,988  - 

Loans and advances to customers 33,010 33,010  -  - 33,010 

Hire purchase agreement receivables 85,695 81,493  -  - 81,493 

Other assets 1,523 1,523  - 1,523  - 

Assets classified as held for sale 2,150 2,150 2,150  -  - 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost 355,933 351,731 59,717 177,511 114,503 

Customer deposits 144,797 145,492  - 145,492  - 

Other customer accounts 193,519 193,519  - 193,519  - 

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 338,316 339,011  - 339,011  - 
 

Key considerations in the calculation of the disclosed fair values includes the following: 

Cash and balances with central banks 

These represent amounts with an initial maturity of less than three months and as such their carrying value is 

considered a reasonable approximation of their fair value. 

Loans and advances to banks 

These represent either amounts with an initial maturity of less than three months or longer term variable rate 

deposits placed with banks, where adjustments to fair value in respect of the credit risk of the counterparty are 

not considered necessary.  Accordingly the carrying value of the assets is considered to be not materially different 

from their fair value. 

Loans and advances to customers and hire purchase agreement receivables 

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the 

market rate of interest at the balance sheet date. Hire purchase agreement receivables classified as held for sale 
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assets at 28 February 2018 are valued at recoverable amount based on the purchase price from the interested 

purchaser. 

Customer deposits 

The fair value of fixed rate customers’ accounts have been determined by discounting estimated future cash flows 

based on market interest rates on equivalent deposits.   

Other customer accounts 

These represent amounts repayable on demand and as such their carrying value is considered a reasonable 

approximation of their fair value. 

28. Share capital 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Allotted, issued, called up and fully paid:

13,600,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 13,600 13,600  

The Bank has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income. 

29. Notes to the cash flow statement  

29.1 Net increase in income earning assets 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Loans and advances to customers                                                                       (794) (7,360)

Available for sale equity investment (Note 13 and 14) (275) 16,618 

Hire purchase agreement receivables (10,787) (25,023)

Prepayments and other debtors 4,142 2,791 

(7,714) (12,974)  
 

29.2 Net (decrease)/increase in funding and other liabilities 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Customer deposits 16,018 23,498 

Other customer accounts (20,587) (5,836)

Other liabilities (23,929) 14,136 

(28,498) 31,798  
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Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities 
 

Customer 

deposits

Other 

customer 

accounts

Other 

liabilities 

(including 

held for 

sale)

Total

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Balance as at 1 March 2017 144,797 193,519 47,808 386,124 

Financing cash flows1 16,018 (20,587) (23,929) (28,498)

Foreign exchange movement  - (1,409) (387) (1,796)

Balance as at 28 February 2018 160,815 171,523 23,492 355,830  

Customer 

deposits

Other 

customer 

accounts

Other 

liabilities 

(including 

held for 

sale)

Total

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Balance as at 1 March 2016 121,299 183,438 31,679 336,416 

Financing cash flows1 23,498 (5,836) 14,136 31,798 

Foreign exchange movement  - 15,917 1,993 17,910 

Balance as at 28 February 2017 144,797 193,519 47,808 386,124  

1 The cash flows make up the net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayments of borrowings in 
the statement of cash flows. 
 
29.3 Tax paid 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Amounts unpaid at beginning of the year (1,051) (358)

Income tax charge (current tax) 969 (4,189)

Amounts unpaid at end of the year (1,224) 1,051 

Tax paid (1,306) (3,496)

  

29.4 Cash and cash equivalents 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Cash and balances with central banks (Note 11) 56,920 57,567 

Debt securities (Note 13) 44,945 59,010 

Placements with banks1 (Note 12) 151,415 175,988 

Cash included in non current assets held for sale (Note 26) 3,176 2,150 

256,456 294,715 
 

1Represents loan balances with a maturity of three months or less.  
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30. Commitments  

30.1 Operating lease commitments – Premises 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

The total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 427 371 

After 1 year but within 5 years 277 117 

704 488  

30.2 Other operational commitments – Information Technology 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Commitments expiring: 

Within 1 year 490 381 

After 1 year but within 5 years 193 527 

683 908  

31. Contingencies 

The Bank continues to work with Payment Services partners to exit existing contracts in an orderly manner.  During 

the course of exiting contracts, there may be events which result in additional settlement or costs, however no 

provision is considered necessary at this point.    

Following the decision to cease new motor lending, discussions are on-going on settling existing contractual 

obligations, again with no provision considered necessary. 

The Company is subject to extensive regulation in the conduct of its business.  A failure to comply with applicable 

regulations could result in regulatory investigations, fines and restrictions on some of the Company’s business 

activities or other sanctions.  The Company seeks to minimise this risk through the adoption of compliance and 

other policies and procedures, continuing to refine controls over business practices and behaviour, employee 

training, the use of appropriate documentation, and the involvement of outside legal counsel where appropriate.  

No provision is considered necessary. 

The Bank is part of the same VAT group as other members of the Lenlyn Group.  As such, it has a joint and several 

liability for any amounts due to HMRC by any of the other entities in this group. No provision is considered 

necessary. 

32. Related Parties 

32.1 Holding company 

Lenlyn Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in England, is the Bank's immediate parent undertaking and 

ultimate controlling related party.  Copies of the financial statements for Lenlyn Holdings Limited are available 

from Companies House, Crown Way, Maindy, Cardiff, CF14 3UZ.  The largest group of undertakings for which 

accounts have been drawn up is that headed by Lenlyn Holdings Limited.  
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32.2 Transaction with Lenlyn Group companies 

During the normal course of business the following transactions were undertaken with Lenlyn Group companies 

during the year under review: 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

- Revenue share paid to ICE for services provided in relation to management, 

property, hardware and site provision for the Bank’s ATM estate
(9,551) (7,862)

- Rent and rates paid to Lenlyn Holdings Limited (424) (421)

- Interest and management fees received from group companies 224 224  

At the end of the year the following balances were outstanding with Lenlyn Group companies: 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Prepayments and other debtors  - 58 

Customer deposits (82) (134)

Other liabilities (1,619) (426)  

The ATM division operates in conjunction with a number of partners, which includes fellow subsidiary 

International Currency Exchange Limited (‘ICE’).  As part of the day to day operations the companies follow an 

arrangement whereby ICE is responsible for the fill of a number of the ATM machines on behalf of the Bank.  

During the year under review the Bank reimbursed ICE to the value of £287 million (2017: £282 million).  

32.3 Key management compensation 

Key management personnel of the Bank comprise the Directors and other members of the Executive Committee. 

Details of the compensation paid to key management personnel are:  

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Emoluments 1,895 1,914 

Pension costs 73 68 

1,968 1,982  

32.4 Transactions with key management personnel 

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances related to key management personnel were as 

follows: 

2018) 2017)

Deposits £’000) £’000)

Balance outstanding 463 439 

Transaction values for the year 32 (24)

Maximum balance for the year 476 466 
 

The terms of all deposit arrangements have been operated by the Bank on commercial terms and conditions. 

During the year an amount of £46k (2017: £46k) was incurred in rent to Turville Estates (UK) Limited for the use of 

a property in Aylesbury.  At the balance sheet date, no balance was payable to Turville Estates (UK) Limited (2017: 
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£nil).  Ms Anthea Frost, who resigned as a Director of the Bank on 2 June 2017, is also a Director of Turville Estates 

(UK) Limited.  The rental agreement is based on commercial terms and conditions. 

33. Financial risk management 

33.1 Introduction and overview 

In the course of conducting its business the Bank is exposed to a wide range of financial risks, of which the 
principal risks are as follows: 

 credit risk 

 liquidity risk 

 market risk 

 operational risk 

 conduct risk 

 capital risk management 

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies and 

processes for measuring and managing risk and its management of capital. 

Risk management framework  

The Bank employs an Enterprise Risk Management Framework (‘ERMF’) to identify the types and quantum of risks 

to which it is prepared to be exposed and to determine how those risks are to be mitigated and managed.  Some of 

the key elements of the ERMF are: 

 The use of risk appetite and tolerance statements throughout the business; 

 The use of risk registers to identify key risks and ensure they are actively monitored and managed; 

 The maintenance of up to date policies and procedures, including fully tested business continuity plans; 

and 

 The delegation to various committees of the oversight of how well the Bank manages risk.  The main 

committees in this respect are the Audit & Risk Committee (‘ARC’), the Executive Committee (‘EXCO’) and 

the Asset & Liability Committee (‘ALCO’). 

Ultimate responsibility for the overall framework and the risk management strategy resides with the Board.  The 

policy of the Bank is that all aspects of the ERMF are reviewed, amended (where appropriate) and approved at 

least annually by the Board to ensure they remain in line with best practice and are consistent with the Bank’s 

strategic objectives.  The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by 

the Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor adherence to limits.  The Bank reviews risk 

management policies and systems regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered.  

The Bank, through its training, management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and 

constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.  

The ARC is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies and procedures and 

for reviewing the adequacy of the ERMF in relation to the risks faced by the Bank.  The committee is assisted in 

these functions by the Bank’s three lines of governance model under which assurance is provided by the risk and 

compliance functions (the second line) and by internal audit (the third line), which undertakes both regular and ad-

hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures and reports directly to the committee on the results of 

such reviews. 
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A schematic of the Bank’s ERMF: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33.2  Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its contractual 

obligations.  The risk arises from the Bank’s provision of hire purchase agreements, loans and advances to 

customers, placing deposits with other banks and holding debt securities.  For risk management reporting 

purposes the Bank considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk exposure.  

Management of credit risk  

The Board delegates day-to-day responsibility for the management of credit risk to the ALCO and EXCO.  This 

includes actively monitoring risk on individual counterparties and groups of interrelated counterparties.    

Credit risk exposure 

The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk is set out in the table below: 

2018) 2017)

 £’000) £’000)

Balances with central banks 56,920 57,566 

Loans and advances to banks 151,415 175,988 

Available for sale investments 44,945 59,010 

Loans and advances to customers 33,804 33,010 

Hire purchase agreement receivables  - 88,425 

Prepayments and other debtors 3,070 4,350 

Assets classified as held for sale 100,840 6,169 

Maximum credit risk exposure 390,994 424,518  

33.2.1 Loans and advances to banks, debt securities and derivatives held for risk management  

The ALCO is responsible for approving counterparties for investment purposes and counterparties with which the 

Bank may enter into derivative contracts as hedging tools for interest rate risk and/or foreign exchange risk.  In line 

with Bank policy, limits are placed on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one counterparty or group of 

counterparties.  Exposure is monitored daily. 

The process for the selection of counterparties and the approval of limits is governed primarily by the Bank’s large 

exposure policy and its liquidity policy, both of which are reviewed and approved annually by the Board.  In line 
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with Bank policy, the ALCO reviews counterparty limits quarterly and recommends changes to such limits as 

necessary based on ratings assigned by the major credit rating agencies and any other market intelligence 

available.  At least annually, the ARC also reviews and approves all counterparty limits.   

It is the policy of the Bank that in order to qualify as an acceptable counterparty, a financial institution must have a 

minimum Tier 1 capital of £500 million (or equivalent in currency).  Institutions (and all Sovereign risks) must also 

have a short term prime rating from one or more of the rating agencies.  Other unrated counterparties may be 

added if specific approval is granted by the ALCO. 

No transactions can be undertaken with counterparties which do not have a pre-approved limit.  The maximum 

exposure to any individual counterparty or connected group of counterparties is limited to the Bank’s total capital.   

An analysis of the Bank’s inter-bank deposits and its holding of debt securities is shown in the table that follows: 

2018 2018 2017 2017

Industry sector £’000 % £’000 %

Banks and central banks 208,335 82 233,554 80

Central Government 43,264 17 47,215 16 

Supranational 1,681 1 11,795 4 

Total 253,280 100 292,564 100  

The table below sets out information about the credit quality of the inter-bank deposits and debt securities. 

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Balances with banks and central banks 208,335 233,554

Rated Aaa 56,920 57,566

Rated Aa1 to Aa3 45,184 36,255

Rated A1 to A3 76,540 118,966

Rated Baa1 to Baa3 29,691 20,767

Government and Supranational securities 44,945 59,010

Rated Aaa 34,367 44,115

Rated Aa1 to Aa3 10,578 14,895

253,280 292,564  

As at 28 February 2018 and 28 February 2017 none of these assets were past due or impaired. 

33.2.2 Hire purchase agreement receivables and loans and advances to customers 

Hire purchase receivables arise predominantly in connection with the financing of motor and other specialised 

vehicle purchases by individuals.  They also include asset finance transactions to SMEs. Hire purchase receivables 

are classified as held for sale assets at 28 February 2018 (see Note 26) and are therefore valued at their 

recoverable amount, being fair value less costs to sell. Information on credit impairment is therefore no longer 
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considered meaningful for these assets and is only presented for the comparative prior period. Detail on 

delinquency and collateral for these receivables is still presented.  

Loans and advances to customers are to individuals and (to a much lesser extent) SMEs.  The vast majority of such 

loans and advances are made up of sports season ticket loans, student support loans, medical loans, unsecured 

personal loans and short-term funding to professional firms such as accountants, solicitors etc. which are 

introduced to the Bank and administered on its behalf by third party firms.  All such advances are written on the 

Bank’s own paper and ultimately the associated credit risk rests with the Bank.  However, an important mitigant of 

the credit risk is that the Bank has an arrangement whereby each third party will buy back outstanding balances on 

loans they have introduced when the account has reached a certain level of delinquency: the level of delinquencies 

at which buy backs occurs varies from partner to partner, but falls within the range of 90-120 days.  In the event of 

any failure of these third parties, the Bank would take over administration of the loans directly.   

The Bank’s lending portfolio is exclusively within the UK.   

Neither)

past)

due nor)

impaired)

Past due)

but not)

impaired) Impaired)

Gross)

exposure)

28 February 2018 £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Loans and advances to customers 32,564 1,240  - 33,804 

32,564 1,240  - 33,804  

Neither)

past)

due nor)

impaired)

Past due)

but not)

impaired) Impaired)

Gross)

exposure)

28 February 2017 £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Loans and advances to customers 30,870 2,140  - 33,010 

Hire purchase agreement receivables 82,686  - 5,739 88,425 

Less: allowance for losses incurred not yet identified (374)  -  - (374)

Less: allowance for identified incurred losses  -  - (2,356) (2,356)

113,182 2,140 3,383 118,705 
 

Analysis of loans and advances past due but not impaired 

Less than 

30 days

30-59

days

60-89

days

90-119

days
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

28 February 2018 441 547 181 71 1,240

28 February 2017 638 718 411 373 2,140  
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Analysis of impaired loans and advances 

Hire purchase receivables are classified as held for sale at 28 February 2018 and carried at recoverable value. 

Therefore allocation of impairment provision across the delinquency profile at 28 February 2018 is of limited 

usefulness and is not presented.  

Gross 

exposure

28 February 2018 £’000

Past due 1 – 2 months 3,301

Past due 3 – 4 months 759

Past due 5 – 6 months 456

Past due more than 6 months 1,398

Repossessed loans 2,073

7,987  

Gross 

exposure Impairment

Net 

exposure

28 February 2017 £’000 £’000 £’000

Past due 1 – 2 months 2,842 (467) 2,375

Past due 3 – 4 months 625 (204) 421

Past due 5 – 6 months 322 (98) 224

Past due more than 6 months 710 (527) 183

Repossessed loans 1,240 (1,060) 180

5,739 (2,356) 3,383  

In respect of vehicle finance, collateral is provided by the Bank’s rights and/or title to the underlying assets.  During 

the year, there has been a marked growth in both the number of accounts in arrears and those where the vehicle 

has been repossessed.  In addition, there has been an increase in the number of voluntary terminations under the 

half-rule provisions of the Consumer Credit Act, leading to further write off losses.  The following table illustrates 

the extent of collateral and other risk mitigations.  In the case of hire purchase agreements the table indicates the 

vehicle trade-in value as a percentage of the advance, based on data at origination date. 

Exposure Unsecured Secured <70% 70-90% >90%

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Loans and advances to banks 151,415 151,415  -  -  -  - 

Loans and advances to customers 33,804 9 33,795  -  - 33,795

Hire purchase agreement receivables 91,094  - 91,094 19,663 59,720 11,711

276,313 151,424 124,889 19,663 59,720 45,506

Extent of collateral and risk 

mitigation at 28 February 2018

 

Exposure Unsecured Secured <70% 70-90% >90%

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Loans and advances to banks 175,988 175,988  -  -  -  - 

Loans and advances to customers 33,010 250 32,760  -  - 32,760

Hire purchase agreement receivables 85,695  - 85,695 19,271 48,289 18,135

294,693 176,238 118,455 19,271 48,289 50,895

Extent of collateral and risk 

mitigation at 28 February 2017

 

Forbearance 

The Bank maintains a vulnerability policy that details arrangements to be followed in respect of customers who are 

identified as being vulnerable.  In particular, the policy considers the approach to forbearance in cases of 
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customers who are in temporary financial difficulties and consequently unable to meet their original contractual 

repayment terms.  This arrangement is followed for commercial purposes and the delinquency status, and 

consequently the level of impairment, is not impacted by this policy. 

33.3 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank either does not have available cash or cannot obtain sufficient financial 

resources to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall due, or only secure such resources at an excessive cost. 

The Bank’s policy is to maintain liquid assets at all times which are adequate, both as to amount and quality, to 

ensure that there is no significant risk that its liabilities cannot be met as they fall due in the normal course of 

business. The Bank also maintains a contingency funding plan to ensure that it has so far as is reasonably possible, 

sufficient liquid resources to meet liabilities as they fall due under a range of severe but plausible stressed 

scenarios. 

The liquidity policy details liquidity risk limits set by the Board and day-to-day responsibility for ensuring these are 

adhered to rests with the ALCO.  The Bank completes an Individual Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process 

(‘ILAAP’) to assess its compliance with the liquidity systems and control requirements as detailed in the PRA 

Rulebook.   

An important factor supporting the ability of the Bank to raise retail deposits is that all such deposits are covered 

up to the statutory limit by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (‘FSCS’).  Any reduction to the FSCS limit 

could in theory have an impact on the Bank’s deposit-raising activities and hence on its liquidity.  

The tables that follow analyses the Bank’s assets and liabilities across maturity periods and reflect the residual 

maturity from the year end date to the contractual maturity date.  The actual repayment profile of other customer 

accounts is likely to be significantly different to that shown in the analysis. Assets classified as held-for sale are 

included at the expected completion of their relevant sale contracts. In prior year, hire purchase receivables were 

not classified as held for sale and are included at individual receivables contract maturity. Where relevant, 

impairments are considered “undated" . 

On)

demand

)

Up to)

3 

months)

3 

months)

to 1 year)

1 to 5)

years)

More)

than)

5 years)

Undated

) Total)

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Cash and balances with central banks 56,920  -  -  -  -  - 56,920 

Loans and advances to banks 148,723 2,692  -  -  -  - 151,415 

Available for sale investments  - 19,942 25,003  -  - 11,397 56,342 

Loans and advances to customers                                                                        - 6,618 9,460 13,542 4,184  - 33,804 

Hire purchase agreement receivables  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Current tax asset  -  - 1,224  -  -  - 1,224 

Other assets  -  -  - 1,643  - 2,714 4,357 

Assets classified as held for sale  -  - 98,367  -  -  - 98,367 

Total assets 205,643 29,252 134,054 15,185 4,184 14,111 402,429 

Customer deposits 556 48,941 55,516 55,802  -  - 160,815 

Other customer accounts 171,523  -  -  -  -  - 171,523 

Derivative liabilities  -  -  - 16  -  - 16 

Other liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 24,227 24,227 

Liabilities classified as held for sale  -  - 1,047  -  -  - 1,047 

Total liabilities 172,079 48,941 56,563 55,818  - 24,227 357,628 

Residual maturity as 

at 28 February 2018
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On)

demand

)

Up to)

3 months)

3 

months)

to 1 year)

1 to 5)

years)

More)

than)

5 years)

Undated

) Total)

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Cash and balances with central banks 57,567  -  -  -  -  - 57,567 

Loans and advances to banks 173,299 2,689  -  -  -  - 175,988 

Available for sale investments  - 29,476 29,534  -  - 8,885 67,895 

Loans and advances to customers                                                                        - 7,141 9,175 13,033 3,661  - 33,010 

Hire purchase agreement receivables  - 5,005 20,032 63,388  - (2,730) 85,695 

Derivative assets  -  -  - 520  -  - 520 

Other assets  -  -  - 1,523  - 4,383 5,906 

Assets classified as held for sale  -  - 9,671  -  -  - 9,671 

Total assets 230,866 44,311 68,412 78,464 3,661 10,538 436,252 

Customer deposits 822 33,653 38,837 71,485  -  - 144,797 

Other customer accounts 193,519  -  -  -  -  - 193,519 

Other liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 49,723 49,723 

Liabilities classified as held for sale  -  - 638  -  -  - 638 

Total liabilities 194,341 33,653 39,475 71,485  - 49,723 388,677 

Residual maturity as 

at 28 February 2017

 

The following table represents an analysis of gross contractual cash flows payable under financial liabilities.  The 

analysis of gross contractual cash flows differs from the analysis of residual maturity due to the inclusion of 

projected interest flows until maturity, payable on the amounts outstanding at the balance sheet date. 

On 

demand

Up to 

3 months 

3 months 

to 1 year

1 to 5 

years

More 

than 

5 years Undated Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Customer deposits 556 49,187 56,057 58,878  -  - 164,678

Other customer accounts 171,523  -  -  -  -  - 171,523

Derivative liabilities  -  -  - 16  -  - 16

Other liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 24,227 24,227

Liabilities classified as held for sale  -  - 1,047  -  -  - 1,047

Total liabilities 172,079 49,187 57,104 58,894  - 24,227 361,491

Undiscounted contractual 

maturity as at 28 February 2018

 

On 

demand

Up to 

3 months 

3 months 

to 1 year

1 to 5 

years

More 

than 

5 years Undated Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Customer deposits 822 33,850 39,149 75,715  -  - 149,536

Other customer accounts 193,519  -  -  -  -  - 193,519

Other liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 49,723 49,723

Liabilities classified as held for sale  -  - 638  -  -  - 638

Total liabilities 194,341 33,850 39,787 75,715  - 49,723 393,416

Undiscounted contractual 

maturity as at 28 February 2017
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33.4  Market risk 

33.4.1  Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk of reductions in income and/or reductions in the fair value of financial instruments 

arising from unfavourable movements in interest rates. 

The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk in the form of changes (or potential changes) in the general level of 

interest rates, changes in the relationship between short and long-term interest rates and potential divergence in 

the historical relationship between the interest rates applied to different balance sheet items (this last risk is 

commonly referred to as basis risk). 

Interest rate risk is managed to ensure that it is at all times within the Board-approved risk appetite.  Each week 

the ALCO receives and considers a range of MI based on a full interest rate gap analysis for the balance sheet.  This 

includes updated weekly stress testing to consider the impact on the Bank of a two percentage point rise in 

interest rates as well as a review of basis risk. A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have resulted in 

a £440k (2017: £190k) change in net interest revenue reported during the year.         

The tables that follow summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The Bank has not made use of any 

derivative financial instruments to manage exposure to interest rate risk in either of the past two years.   

The interest rate repricing for loans to banks and available for sale investment securities reflects the proportion of 

these balances that are interest bearing.  Agreements with prepaid card partners mean that a proportion of such 

interest is shared between the respective partner and the Bank. Interest rate repricing for hire purchase 

receivables classified as held for sale are reflected based on the expected completion of the relevant sale contract. 
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Up to 

3 months 

3 months 

to 1 year

1 to 5 

years

More 

than 

5 years

Non 

interest 

bearing Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and balances with central banks 56,920  -  -  -  - 56,920

Loans and advances to banks 151,415  -  -  -  - 151,415

Available for sale investments 19,942 25,003  -  - 11,397 56,342

Loans and advances to customers                                                                       6,618 9,460 13,542 4,184  - 33,804

Hire purchase agreement receivables  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Current Tax Asset  -  -  -  - 1,224 1,224

Other assets  -  - 1,643  - 2,714 4,357

Assets classified as held for sale  - 91,094  -  - 7,273 98,367

Total assets 234,895 125,557 15,185 4,184 22,608 402,429

Customer deposits 49,497 55,516 55,802  -  - 160,815

Other customer accounts  -  -  -  - 171,523 171,523

Derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 16 16

Other liabilities  -  -  -  - 24,227 24,227

Liabilities classified as held for sale  -  -  -  - 1,047 1,047

Shareholder funds  -  -  -  - 44,801 44,801

Total liabilities and equity 49,497 55,516 55,802  - 241,614 402,429

Interest rate sensitivity gap 185,398 70,041 (40,617) 4,184 (219,006)

Cumulative gap 185,398 255,439 214,822 219,006  - 

Interest rate repricing 

as at 28 February 2018
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Up to 

3 months 

3 months 

to 1 year

1 to 5 

years

More 

than 

5 years

Non 

interest 

bearing Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and balances with central banks 57,566  -  -  - 1 57,567

Loans and advances to banks 175,988  -  -  -  - 175,988

Available for sale investments 29,476 29,534  -  - 8,885 67,895

Loans and advances to customers                                                                       7,141 9,175 13,033 3,661  - 33,010

Hire purchase agreement receivables 5,005 17,302 63,388  -  - 85,695

Derivative assets  -  -  -  - 520 520

Other assets  -  - 1,523  - 4,383 5,906

Assets classified as held for sale  -  -  -  - 9,671 9,671

Total assets 275,176 56,011 77,944 3,661 23,460 436,252

Customer deposits 34,475 38,837 71,485  -  - 144,797

Other customer accounts  -  -  -  - 193,519 193,519

Other liabilities  -  -  -  - 49,723 49,723

Liabilities classified as held for sale  -  -  -  - 638 638

Shareholder funds  -  -  -  - 47,575 47,575

Total liabilities and equity 34,475 38,837 71,485  - 291,455 436,252

Interest rate sensitivity gap 240,701 17,174 6,459 3,661 (267,995)

Cumulative gap 240,701 257,875 264,334 267,995  - 

Interest rate repricing 

as at 28 February 2017

 

33.4.2 Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of, or net income arising from, assets and liabilities changes as a 

result of movements in exchange rates.  The Bank manages foreign exchange risk to ensure that it is at all times 

within the Board-approved risk appetite.  It is monitored weekly by the ALCO. 

Traditionally the principal area of the Bank’s business where foreign exchange risk arises is within the ATM 

division.  This is because Euro and US Dollar notes are held in ATMs prior to them being dispensed and that for 

certain transactions the Bank receives settlement in a different currency to that of the original transaction.  

The Visa transaction presented in Note 14 also generates foreign exchange exposure at 28 February 2018.  The 

shareholding in Visa Inc. (£10,779k, 2017: £8,848k) is denominated in US Dollar and was unhedged at the balance 

sheet date. The deferred cash receivable (£1,643k, 2017: £1,523k) is denominated in Euro and during the year a FX 

swap was entered into to mitigate the FX risk on this receivable. See Note 17. 

While a large proportion of Payment Services’ cardholder liabilities are in currencies other than Sterling, the 

corresponding bank balance or investment in debt securities is in the same currency.  This provides for a matched 

position and is the key means by which foreign exchange risk within the division is mitigated: the division is 

exposed to some other foreign exchange risk because on certain programmes it receives income in Euros, but this 

is not considered to be material. 

The table that follow sets out the Bank’s exposure to foreign exchange risk at the reporting date.   
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Sterling) Euro) US Dollar) Other) Total)

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Cash and balances with central banks 56,920  -  -  - 56,920 

Loans and advances to banks 34,281 97,818 8,308 11,008 151,415 

Available for sale investments 11,195  - 38,368 6,779 56,342 

Loans and advances to customers 33,804  -  -  - 33,804 

Hire purchase agreement receivables  -  -  -  -  - 

Current Tax Asset 1,224  -  -  - 1,224 

Net assets and liabilities held for sale 91,377 5,477 466  - 97,320 

Customer deposits (160,815)  -  -  - (160,815)

Other customer accounts (30,562) (89,422) (34,522) (17,017) (171,523)

Derivative liability 1,668 (1,684)  -  - (16)

Net other assets/(other liabilities) (10,303) (7,347) (1,461) (759) (19,870)

Net position 28,789 4,842 11,159 11 44,801 

Net foreign exchange exposure 

at 28 February 2018

 

 

Sterling) Euro) US Dollar) Other) Total)

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000)

Cash and balances with central banks 57,567  -  -  - 57,567 

Loans and advances to banks 43,588 104,387 9,724 18,289 175,988 

Available for sale investments 20,242  - 38,191 9,462 67,895 

Loans and advances to customers 33,010  -  -  - 33,010 

Hire purchase agreement receivables 85,695  -  -  - 85,695 

Derivative assets 520  -  -  - 520 

Net assets and liabilities held for sale 4,281 4,649 103  - 9,033 

Customer deposits (144,797)  -  -  - (144,797)

Other customer accounts (47,413) (93,208) (34,396) (18,502) (193,519)

Net other assets/(other liabilities) (21,070) (8,910) (4,635) (9,202) (43,817)

Net position 31,623 6,918 8,987 47 47,575 

Net foreign exchange exposure 

at 28 February 2017
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Foreign exchange Sensitivity 

The Bank estimates that a 5% movement in exchange rates would impact the results as follows: 

2018) 2017)

Effect on profit before tax £’000) £’000)

Euro

5% shift up in exchange rate (231) (329)

5% shift down in exchange rate 255 364 

USD

5% shift up in exchange rate (18) (7)

5% shift down in exchange rate 20 7 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

USD

5% shift up in exchange rate (513) (421)

5% shift down in exchange rate 567 466 

Effect on other comprehensive 

income before tax

 
 

33.5 Operational risk (unaudited) 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 

and systems or from external events arising from day-to-day operating activities. 

The Bank seeks to mitigate this risk through a variety of measures including maintaining up-to-date policies and 

procedures for all key internal processes, ensuring its staff receive ongoing training, investing in appropriate 

systems, having documented and tested business continuity plans and, wherever possible, ensuring that it has a 

diversified spread of counterparties, business partners and suppliers.  The EXCO is the Bank’s principal forum for 

monitoring operational risk which it does through a variety of means including the use of risk registers, operational 

loss databases, control self-assessments and regular reviews of operational divisions and functional areas by 

compliance and internal audit. 

33.6 Conduct risk (unaudited) 

The Bank defines conduct risk as “The risk that through action or inaction by the Bank, or by its employees 

or suppliers: 

 one or more of its products and/or services fails to deliver consistently good outcomes for its 

customers, or 

 it breaches a regulatory rule or guideline, impacts market integrity or competition, or 

 it breaches a law.” 

The conduct risk governance framework mirrors other aspects of the Bank’s ERMF and is actively managed at all 

levels within the Bank through training, the establishment of risk appetite and tolerances and the use of 

appropriate Key Risk Indicators (‘KRI’) and other management information. 

33.7 Capital risk and management  

It is the Bank’s policy to maintain capital resources above the minimum required by the PRA and to maintain 

appropriate capital buffers as required under Capital Requirements Directive.   

The Bank periodically undertakes an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Plan (‘ICAAP’) which is reviewed and 

adopted by the Board.  The primary objective of the ICAAP is to evidence that the Bank’s capital resources are 
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sufficient to enable it to achieve its strategic objectives under normal market conditions but also that it has 

sufficient capital to survive periods of stress.   

The ICAAP process involves reviewing all risks to which the Bank is exposed or potentially could be exposed and 

making an assessment of the capital required to mitigate the potential impact of those risks down to a level that is 

consistent with the Board-approved risk appetite and in accordance with regulatory requirements.  An integral 

part of the process is to subject the Bank’s base case forecasts for the next five years to a range of stresses.  Such 

stresses will consider events that might be only specific to the Bank, events that have a more market-wide impact 

and a combination of both types of events.  Stress testing also includes combining several individual tests together 

to create extreme but plausible adverse scenarios that could impact the Bank.  The final part of the process is to 

identify what management actions might be possible to mitigate any impact on the Bank, and the time it might 

take to return to more normal operating conditions.  

To help assess the ongoing adequacy of capital, the Bank has established an overall appetite for each of the main 

risks to which it is exposed and established tolerances for each such risk, within which the Bank is expected to 

operate.  Furthermore each operating division of the Bank has its own more detailed risk tolerances that are 

consistent with those established for the Bank overall.  The Bank’s performance against these tolerances is 

monitored regularly at divisional level and reviewed at least monthly by the EXCO and the Board.   

The following reflects the regulatory capital resources managed by the Bank as reported in the relevant regulatory 
return: 

2018) 2017)

£’000) £’000)

Share capital 13,600 13,600 

Share premium 900 900 

Retained earnings 27,013 31,462 

3,288 1,613 

Total balance sheet equity 44,801 47,575 

Deductions:

Investments in financial sector entities (6,983) (4,700)

Intangible assets (979) (832)

(56) (69)

Total tier 1 capital 36,783 41,974 

 - 374 

Total regulatory capital resources 36,783 42,348 

Credit impairment allowance for losses incurred not 

yet identified

Prudent valuation adjustment

Available for sale reserve

 

 

There has been no breaches in regulatory capital requirement reported in the year. 

34. Country-by-country reporting 

Article 89 of the Capital Requirements Directive IV requires credit institutions and investments firms in the EU to 

disclose annually, specifying by Member State and third country in which it has an establishment, the following 

information for the year: name, nature of activities, geographical location, turnover, number of employees, profit 

before tax, corporation tax paid and public subsidies received. 

The principal activity of the Bank is the provision of financial services as described in the Strategic report.  Average 

employee numbers are disclosed in Note 9. 
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2018) 2017)

United Kingdom £’000) £’000)

Turnover 21,258 47,129 

 - Continuing operations (Note 4) 1,765 26,734 

 - Discontinued operations (Note 4) 19,493 20,395 

Profit/(loss) before tax (5,480) 27,439 

 - Continuing operations (Note 4) (7,669) 19,194 

 - Discontinued operations (Note 4) 2,189 8,245 

Corporation tax paid (Note 29.3) 2,518 3,496  

Turnover consists of net interest income, net fees and commissions received or paid and other income. 

No public subsidies were received by the Bank. 

35. Post balance sheet events 

Since the 28 February 2018, the Bank’s Board has taken a decision to cease writing new motor loans, with the 

various stakeholders including staff and brokers informed of this decision in May 2018.  Subsequently, on the 6th 

July 2018 the Bank has completed an agreement to sell the outstanding motor loan receivables. The fair value of 

the loan balances has been compared to the carrying value and this has led to write down to recoverable value at 

the February 2018 year-end of £2.6m. 
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